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Thursday, November 30, 2017
--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Good morning, everybody, and welcome to the technical conference in case number EB-2017-0024, which is the annual filing under the custom incentive rate plan and the incentive rate mechanism plan for four rate zones that are now part of Alectra Utilities, formerly were the rate zones with respect to Horizon Utilities, Hydro One Brampton Networks, PowerStream Inc., and Enersource Hydro Mississauga.

My name Ljuba Djurdjevic.  I am legal counsel at the OEB, and with me today on behalf of OEB Staff are Lorne Murray, also counsel for OEB Staff, Martin Davies, Georgina Vlahos, and Chris Oakley, a consultant to OEB Staff.

Can I first have appearances, starting with Mr. Garner.
Appearances:


MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner, consultant for VECC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. BRETT:  Tom Brett, counsel for BOMA, B-O-M-A, Building Owners and Managers Association.

MR. SMITH:  Crawford Smith, counsel for Alectra.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It's Richard Stephenson.  I'm counsel for the PW...  Let me try that again.  Richard Stephenson.  I'm counsel for the PWU.

MR. RICHLER:  Julie Girvan, consultant to the Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. GRICE:  Shelley Grice, consultant to the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.

Before we address the order of questioning, are there any preliminary issues that parties need to address?
Procedural Matters:


Okay.  So we've had some discussions before we got on the record, and staff will be going first, and followed by Mr. Brett for BOMA, and then after that we'll see whether Mr. Shepherd or Mr. Garner want to go next, or -- we'll have some better idea after we get started who wants to go and who has which questions.

So with that I'm going to turn it over to --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I think we agreed that we were going do all the capital questions first --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- and we're going to leave the non-capital questions until later.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, we did have some discussion, and Board Staff and intervenors, I believe, all agreed that we're going to deal with the capital and ICM issues first.

MR. SMITH:  I think it would be more accurate in the circumstances to say that's the way in which the parties have decided to proceed.  The company's view is that it would be more efficient to go by party through all of their questions.  I understand people would prefer not to do that, and that's fine, and we'll just proceed in the way --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Mr. Crawford.

MR. SMITH:  -- in which you want to proceed.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  With that I'm going to turn it over to Mr. Davies and have him start --


MR. SMITH:  Perhaps before we turn it over we should introduce the witness panel for --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh, please do.

MR. SMITH:  -- the record.  So just starting furthest from me we have Mike Matthews, who is the senior vice-president, network services, for Alectra.  Next to him is Tom Wasik, who is the vice-president of asset management.  In the middle of the panel we have Indy Butany-DeSouza, vice-president, regulatory affairs, beside her Natalie Yeates, regulatory affairs.  Next to Natalie is Heather Clark, who is the director of financial reporting, and on the end we have Greg Lyle of Innovative Partners.  And this is the only panel we have.
ALECTRA UTILITIES - PANEL 1
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MR. DAVIES:  Thank you.  If there is nothing else, Board Staff will begin with their questions.  And the first area that we will be asking questions on will relate to the Enersource rate zone, and Chris Oakley of Midgard Consulting, who is a Board Staff consultant, will be asking the questions on the Enersource rate zone.  So Chris, if you're ready.
Questions by Mr. Oakley:

MR. OAKLEY:  Good morning, panel.  Is this on?  Oh, good.  If I can get to you turn to the response to the ERZ-Staff-24, and response to C.  Do you have that?  The response doesn't say if federal or provincial laws related to transformer PCB management have changed since 2013.

Have the applicable laws changed?

MR. WASIK:  We are not aware if the regulations changed.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  Thanks.  I guess so then, obviously, it hasn't been a change of law that stimulated the accelerated transformer replacement program component of the ICM?

MR. WASIK:  So the replacement of the leaking transformers was as a result of identification of oil leaks through inspections and subsequent review of the appropriate regulations with regards to oil leaks, and Alectra Utilities' at-that-time predecessor, Enersource, was informed by those regulations, which we clearly explained in the DSP under page 72, which triggered necessary reporting, as well as remediation efforts.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  Thanks.  I just wanted to clarify about the, you know, if there was a law changed behind that too, but that's -- but you've clarified that, thanks.

In your response to -- it's ERZ-Staff-24H -- all of the forecast expenditures associated with the transformer replacement program is addressed in the ICM.

Is there a multi-year base capital program that also addresses transformer replacements?  I just want to confirm that.

MR. WASIK:  Yes, there is.  There is an ongoing annual capital program for transformer replacement, which also includes replacement of transformers that have either internally faulted, they may have also been damaged through vehicle accidents, or quite possibly have some other corrosion or other issues that require them to be replaced as a result of hazards or safety to the public and to the employees.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  Thanks.  So does the ICM leaky transformer replacement project also span multiple years?

MR. WASIK:  As we have provided in the business case for the leaking transformers, which I think can be found in our evidence, we have paced the replacement of the backlog transformers for multiple years, and we anticipate to be finished by 2021.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  I think, in response to a question, which I may have to actually find the reference to later.  But in any case, there was an indication that all the ICM costs show up in capital in 2018,which it's hard to square that circle.  This is multi-year program, but the costs apparently show up in 2018.

MR. WASIK:  Just for benefit of clarification, the ICM -- the proposed ICM multi-year project is a project, not a program.

Previously you asked about if there is an ongoing program.  So there is a clear distinction between the ongoing program and the proposed ICM project, which is addressed to specifically look after the identified transformers backlog that was identified as of December 23rd, 2016.

So I just wanted to clarify that there is a distinct difference between the program and the project.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay, thanks.  It may be a bit of a nuance, but we can explore that a bit maybe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Oakley, do you object if I ask a follow-up question while you're on that?  We often do that.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I do object to that, because I don't think that if we're going to divide it up, as you've asked Mr. Shepherd, that we stick by topic.  I don't think it's an efficient process to bounce around between intervenors while one is asking questions.

So if you have a follow-up question, certainly you can ask that question during your turn in relation to capital.  But I don't think we should be bouncing around.  I don't think it's fair to the witnesses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, not fair to who?

MR. SMITH:  The witnesses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  To have a follow-up question on something they just talked about?

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Shepherd, I've indicated what I think is the appropriate process that the parties should ask they their questions.  If you have a follow-up question, nobody is denying you the opportunity to ask it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's common practice for parties to ask follow-ups at the time that the issue is raised.

MR. GARNER:  Can I just interject?  Mark Garner with VECC.  I understand that, and we have yet to hear about whether Staff objects.

But seriously, if the purpose is to elucidate things running, over the whole record in the transcript to find the answer to the same thing is less efficient, in my mind.  If there is something on this issue and we have it in one place in the transcript, it seems to me it just makes everybody's life easier to find the information that way.

MR. SMITH:  I understand your point of view.  My point of view on this is we have a lot of material, and if we are bouncing back and forth, we are not going to get done.  And I don't think that that is in anybody's interest.

But if people want to do this, we've stated our position on the record.  But I am concerned we are going to run out of time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you mind if I just ask this follow-up question?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Staff doesn't object and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do I understand that the leaky transformer project for this year is part of a multi-year program?  Is that right?

MR. WASIK:  That is not correct.  The multi-year project is a multi-year project, which is distinctly different than the ongoing replacement program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the difference then between that project and program?

MR. WASIK:  It might be helpful to turn to our evidence in attachment 47, page 65.

MR. BRETT:  What page is that again, please?

MR. WASIK:  Page 65 in attachment 47 of our evidence.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry to interrupt.  Who is in charge the exhibits coming up on the screen?  Okay.  It's coming.

MR. WASIK:  If we turn to page 65…

MR. BRETT:  That's not 65, is it?

MR. WASIK:  So what this figure identifies is that there has been an ongoing program, which is reactive in nature, to replace damaged as well as corrosive or other faulty transformers, not necessarily leaking transformers.

What we're proposing in our ICM project is as of December 31st, identified between the 2,244 transformers that are specific and distinct, that are a backlog of transformers that need to be replaced.  And what we're proposing is a multi-year project to be finished by 2021 to remove those leaking transformers from service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're proposing to increase the numbers of transformers you replace by changing your criteria for how you replace them?

MR. WASIK:  That's not correct.  What we're saying is we have a backlog of transformers and to address that backlog, we developed the multi-year project.  Once that backlog is finished, that project closes and the ongoing program continues because the ongoing program is reactive in nature.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there a different type?  Are those ones in the project, are they a different type of transformers, like an Acme transformer versus a Smith transformer?

MR. WASIK:  They're not different types of transformers, but there are different reasons why we're replacing them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

MR. BRETT:  I want to follow-up if I may with a question.

When you say you had an ongoing program that was a reactive program, are you telling us that in that ongoing program, you only replace transformers when they failed?  When I think of a reactive program, in your literature and literature on this kind of project, I think we used the term reactive to mean a transformer that's failed and is going to be replaced for that reason.

Is that what you mean?  Or if it isn't, can you explain what you mean by reactive?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Mr. Brett, just a moment.  We're just turning up the evidence.  Thank you.

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Brett, it might be helpful to review our response to ERZ-Staff-38, subpoint E.

MR. BRETT:  38, is it?  Can we have that up on the screen, please?

MR. SMITH:  E?

MR. BRETT:  B as in Brian?

MR. SMITH:  No, E as in Edward.  ERZ-Staff-38.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  That's correct, ERZ-Staff-38, part E for Edward.

MR. WASIK:  That's right, right there.  In the second paragraph, we explained the transformer replacement project is different from the transformer replacement program in that the project addresses a backlog of known transformers found to exhibit signs of leaking, where the transformer replacement program addresses immediate need to replace damaged, faulted, or rusted transformers that pose a safety hazard to employees and the public.

MR. BRETT:  So that tells me that your traditional program, your ongoing program, you don't necessarily have a failing transformer; you have one that's, in your judgment, is likely to fail -- either has failed, or is very likely to fail.  Is that right?

MR. WASIK:  So as we explained in that same paragraph, when a transformer is faulted it is failed and it's replaced under the program, but as well as if it's a safety hazard because of excessive rusting or quite possibly damage due to a car accident and it's off its pad mount, those are also considered to be necessary for replacement under the program.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.

And what percentage of those transformers would have oil leaks?  Where the transformers were replaced as part of the -- I think you mentioned a little earlier this morning that there were -- some of them had an oil leak problem and other -- but they had other problems.

Can you give us some idea of what percentage of those transformers that you're replacing in your ongoing program in a typical year were also suffering from oil leaks, had signs of oil leaks?

MR. WASIK:  Unfortunately, that's not something that we can provide, because the oil leak in that particular situation might be because the car hit the transformer and as a result of that damaged the transformer and leaked.  So there isn't a way for us to be able to quantify how many of those transformers were leaking.

MR. BRETT:  So in other words, none of that -- you're saying none of the transformers that you replaced under that ongoing program were leaking oil?  No, you're saying you just can't tell, or you haven't checked.

MR. WASIK:  We did not track oil leaks under the program specifically to determine how many there were leaking.  We had to replace them because they required imminent and immediate replacement.

MR. BRETT:  You don't know...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just follow up that?  I'm sorry, Mr. Oakley.  I seem to have taken us down a path that has more length than I expected.  But I just have one follow-up.

Do I understand that your existing reactive program replaced the transformer if it doesn't work, replaces it if it's been knocked off its pad or something, it replaces it if it's overly rusty, and you've now added another layer that you're going to start to replace them if they leak too; is that right?

MR. WASIK:  That is not correct.  What we're doing under the program that's different than the project is that the project is specific to the 2,244 known transformers that are backlogged.  We know the location of these.  We're aware that they're leaking or showing signs of leaking and they're out there.  And what we do know is that they require to us do something about them.  The leaks are -- just --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.

MR. WASIK:  -- Mr. Shepherd, let me just finish.  Maybe if I finished answering the question I'll get to the explanation on the program.

So what we're saying here is that we're aware of where these transformers are, we're aware that they're leaking.  We're concerned that the leaks -- we are aware that the leaks are not going to fix themselves.  They are going to continue leaking.  We're concerned that they're going to cause more environmental damage, requiring more expensive remediation.

So we've created a multi-year project to go out there and replace these known locations.  The program is designed to be responsive and reactive to emerging or new elements that come forward, whether they're from car accidents or new inspections that identify that they're leaking or they identify that they're rusting, and so it's -- they're different in the sense that one is reactive or the other one is specific, it's got a scope, it's got a schedule, and it's got a distinct location that we know where these things are located and we need to go after them in a paced and a predictive manner so that we can address this particular risk.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  That's very helpful, but what I was really trying to drive at is this.  When you finish this backlog in 2021, are you then going to stop replacing leaky transformers, or is that going to be part of your ongoing new protocol that leaks will have to be either repaired or replaced?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Shepherd, I think it would be helpful to go back to that figure that shows the difference between the funding spending.  As you can see --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I'm sorry, it was a very simple question.

MR. WASIK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You gave me a long answer already.  I would like a very specific answer.  In 2021 are you going to stop replacing leaky transformers or not?  It's a yes/no question.

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Shepherd, why don't we hear the witness's answer, and if you have a follow-up to that I am sure you will ask --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I heard it already, and I've now clarified, and I would like my straight answer.

MR. SMITH:  And Mr. Wasik is going to answer your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Shepherd, as we provided in that diagram, you can see that the forecast for 2022 identifies that the ongoing program will continue, but our replacement of the backlog is expected to end, and so we don't anticipate that the volume and the magnitude of leaking transformers will require it to be replaced after this project is finished.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in 2022 you will be replacing leaky transformers.

MR. WASIK:  If new transformers are found because of damages because hit 'em and they're leaking, we're going to go out there, look at them.  We're going to continue to inspect and look for additional ones --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, only if cars hit them, or --


MR. WASIK:  No, but we're going to continue to inspect their transformers to ensure that oil is contained within them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I said then earlier is correct, right, that you've now added a new criteria for replacing transformers, which is if they leak we're going to replace them.  You have a backlog because you didn't have that rule before, but once the backlog is done you're still going to do that, right?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I apologize.  I will not do that again.

MR. OAKLEY:  If we could move on to -- it's 24I, this is ERZ-Staff-24I, and this is going to sound pretty familiar because it's going to rhyme with what's just gone down here, but is it possible to differentiate between transformers included as part of the leaky transformer program and the transformer replacement programs?  Sorry, I guess projects, to follow your explanation, and the transformer replacement programs included in the base capital budget?

For example, if a person arrived at a job site and a leaky transformer replacement was being done, what characteristics would distinguish it from a leaky transformer replacement being done under the base capital program?  I assume that in the old days before this was done if you found a transformer with an adequate leak -- big leak you would still replace it.  You would say, "Lookit, we have got a problem here.  We don't want to have an environmental remediation."


So again, if a person just drove up to the job site, what would they see that would say, "I see why that is the ICM project"?

MR. WASIK:  So we've identified the location of these 2,244 transformers through our inspections already, so if a person was to arrive at the site they would know that that's one of the projects, transformers that's part of the backlog, as opposed to a new transformer that was found to be either damaged, rusted, or had other issues that needed to be replaced.

MR. OAKLEY:  But would there be another characteristic besides the fact that it's on the list?  In other words, what physically would I do?  So if I inspect transformers I would go take a look at this one and say, "Oh, I see that is a leaky transformer program or project job versus that's one of the ones we used to do in the old days when we found a transformer that leaked"?  What would physically be different?  I'm trying to understand if there is a difference, and it may just simply be that there isn't but you have just got a bigger backlog now.


MR. WASIK:  So Mr. Oakley, the difference is that we're aware where this location is, and it's on our list of sites that we need to get to to address these outstanding backlogs, where the program is looking forward and looking at not just leaks but also other hazards that have to be addressed as well.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  Thanks.  I'm still not sure I understand, but I don't think we can beat that horse much more.  It's dead.  I actually found the reference I was looking for as far as the capital expenditures.  It's, I think, in ERZ-Staff-39, where in Part A it says:

"The transformer replacement project is a multi-year capital project to replace transformers that had been identified as showing signs of oil leaks."

And it goes on for a little while there.  But if I compare that to the response to ERZ-Staff-25A, it says:
"Yes, the 2018 forecast year expenditures includes all 2018 ICM expenditures."

It seems contradictory; I might just be misunderstanding it.  But one -- there is a jump up in capital in 2018, and yet it seems to be addressing multi-year issues.  So I just don't understand how the accounting works.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Oakley.  Maybe I can just help for the witnesses, if you don't mind.

I think you're asking if you're planning on replacing transformers in 2019 as part of this project, are you saying, "Alectra, that your 2019 capital costs for those replacements are included in your 2018 ICM"?  Have I captured that?  Is that the confusion you're asking about?

MR. OAKLEY:  Yes, because it looks like there is a single year increase, and then a decrease again after the ICM has been spent.

The question we were trying to ask is:  Is this where all the ICM expenditures are located?  Because it seemed like they were actually carrying on for multiple years.  It wasn't clear the capital flow covered it that way.

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Oakley, can I please have the two references?  I'll see if I can help you reconcile those two numbers.

MR. OAKLEY:  Sure.  It was the response to 39A and 25A; those are both ERZ-Staff-questions.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe the other way to ask it is are you seeking confirmation that we're only seeking funding for 2018 for transformers that Alectra intends to replace in 2018?

MR. OAKLEY:  I'm not actually sure that's my question.  It's sort of like is -- are all of the capital expenditures accounted for in your filing in -- are going to occur in 2018, like all of them, because it seems like there are going to be expenditures going on later and I don't understand how it relates to base capital.  So I would assume there would be a normal kind of a paced based capital program, and then ICM should be layered on top of that somewhere.

But it looked like it all showed up in 2018, and I'm trying to clarify.  Does it?

MR. WASIK:  One moment, Mr. Oakley.  I'm looking up the table.

It might be helpful if I can ask you to turn to page 275 of the DSP, where you reference table 55 in your ERZ-Staff-39 question.  If you look at the table in its completeness, you would see that we have both the project and the program identified in table 55 on page 275.

As an example, Mr. Oakley, you would take a look at the fourth row, where we have C0564, which is the overhead transformer replacement overhaul.  So that is the program budget for the five years, six years,  And what you see below is the project.  So we have taken into account for both the program and the project.

And if you were to look above that and the previous page, you would see the same approach with regards to the underground portions of both the project and the program.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks, that's a helpful reference.  It didn't seem to align with the overall capital budget, but I should go back and take a look at that then.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have a follow-up on that, too.  I'm sorry, but I'm not going to have a follow-up on everything.

In 25B, you have -- the difference between the capital budget with ICM and without is 19.7 million dollars in system renewal.  But then the system renewal budget for 2019, '20 and '21 jumps back up in both ICM and non-ICM.  Do I understand correctly that in 25B, where you say this excludes ICM, it only excludes ICM in 2018.  In 2019, some of those expenditures might well be ICM claimed, right?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Shepherd, we have not yet determined what the 2019, '20, '21 and '22 ICM projects would be, or if we are going to be identifying those.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that 42 million 150 in system renewal for 2019, and similar plus 40 million dollar amounts in 2020 and 2021, they include this transformer project, right?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And those may well be the subject of ICMs in those years, just as they are in this year, right?  We don't know yet.

MR. WASIK:  We don't know at this point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the same logic would apply.  If it qualifies this year, it would qualify those years, too, right?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  That is not correct.  We will be evaluating the capital program in its entirety and based on overall ICM qualification, then determining whether there is an -- whether these projects, whether there is an ICM and whether these projects are for ICM.

We don't have that information at this time.  We have not made that determination.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would this four-year project that you say qualifies this year not qualify next year, or the year after, and the year after that?  I don't understand.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  The qualification for ICM isn't just does this project qualify, but on the overall needs of, in this case, the particular rate zone.

So we need to meet -- Alectra needs to meet in the Enersource rate zone multiple qualifications in order to bring forward an ICM application.  And on that basis and with that evaluation, we'll determine whether there is an ICM application to be made and what the composition or project composition of that application is.

We have not made that determination at this time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you proceed with your 76.9 million dollar budget in 2019, you would qualify in threshold and this project in particular would qualify, you say, as a type of project that qualifies.  So why would you not then ask it?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  We are not asking for 2019 at this time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would you not ask for it then? Sorry.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  We may well, but we have not determined at this time whether we have an ICM for 2019 and if we have an ICM for 2019, what that project composition is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Anything else, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  Actually, Mr. Shepherd's question reminded me again why I had asked that question, because when you remove ICM from this project flow, all removals showed up in the first year, which is why I wondered how is it being accounted for, because it looks like this transformer program goes on for four years or so.  Yet when you provide table I in the response to 25B, it just looks like a 24 million dollar hole came out of the first year.

So I just didn't understand, and I still can't say that I understand how these expenditures map into this table.  I would have thought there would be ICM chunks taken out every year sort of.  I would have expected to see a different looking table, and that's why I couldn't figure out what's going on.  And again, I still can't say that I understand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I could ask a clarifying question to help, because that's what I'm here for.

If you claim ICMs in those subsequent years, then that table I would exclude those amounts.  You've only excluded ICM amounts in 2018, right?  If you have amounts that you eventually claim in 2019.  You haven't excluded those at this point.

MR. WASIK:  In providing our response to ERZ-Staff-25B we have responded by our interpretation that we are to remove the 2018, and that's what I think we've identified, is that we've removed the 2018 ICMs because those are the known projects that we're applying for in this application.  Because we don't know what the projects moving forward are, we would not be removing them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  So in the fullness of time those next three years might end up being $50 million without ICM, right, just the same as 2018.  We don't know.

MR. WASIK:  We don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  Thank you.

MR. OAKLEY:  If we can move to Staff 39B, it's a little bit more probing, this same sort of an issue, in that it's very difficult for the observer, and I did try to read this in some level of detail to understand the differentiation between the ICM multi-year replacement project and the program, and to qualify as discrete, which I think is one of the requirements under the OEB's guidelines for ICM projects, there should be separate identifiable projects.  In other words, there are actually 2,244 projects here under that definition at different sites, and none of them would be -- would actually meet the materiality threshold individually, or I don't think they would.

So it's a confusing -- it's a confusing description of a project to occur at 2,200 sites.  It's an unusual project, put it that way, from a normal understanding of what a project is.  And so that's -- the question that I'm trying to get to is, again, I don't understand, could you please explain why that 2,200 sites is equivalent to a project?  It's not like a system where, for example, if you're putting in a communication system, you might very well have 2,200 sites where you're putting in repeaters, but they're functionally the same thing.  They're providing a signal across 2,200 sites.  These are discrete, individual transformers supplying discrete loads at 2,244 sites that are only related because of the nature of the problem that they seem to have.

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Oakley, it might be helpful if we clarified what a project is.  So in our view, a discrete project has a discrete driver.  It has a specific purpose.  It's also finite, meaning that it has a start and an end.  And that differentiates between an ongoing recurring investment program.

So what we see in regards to addressing this backlog of 2,244 transformers is we have the known location of these sites.  We have paced through a multi-year project the implementation.  So in our view the project is very specific.  It's discrete, in fact, that it's finite, it has a start, it has an end, it has a specific scope, it has a specific schedule.  We know the location of these things.  We are paced to complete this particular project.

Where our view of a program is that it's ongoing, it's recurring, it doesn't have an end, it's -- as long as we have a fleet of these particular assets or any other type of an asset, those types of programs will roll forward.

And so that -- we're hoping -- that explanation we're hoping provides you a little bit more clarity in the sense of, what is the difference.  One is specific.  It's discrete.  And the other one is ongoing and recurring.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  Thanks.  I'm --


MR. GARNER:  Well, can I jump in, because I'm confused too.  But maybe this can just help me understand.  If you find another leaking transformer tomorrow does it go into the program or the project?

MR. WASIK:  It goes into the program, because it's not part of the backlog.

MR. GARNER:  It goes into the program, not the project.  So over the course of a year if you find another 100 they will be just part of a program because this started at a point in time where you found this inventory of transformers and that inventory now is your project.

MR. WASIK:  Yes, we've called it a backlog, and so we have a backlog of specific locations we have to go and address.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  Thanks.

If we could move along to ERZ-Staff-26, and this -- we'll talk about maybe Parts A, B, and C.  Just wondering if Alectra's criteria for identifying and selecting underground cables needing replacement has changed since the last incentive regulation budget was established?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Mr. Oakley, your reference is to cable replacement, whether that criteria has changed relative to the last incentive regulation, meaning the last IRM application for Enersource --


MR. OAKLEY:  Right.  When --


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  -- or the --


MR. OAKLEY:  -- base capital -- when base capital was established, since that occurred, have Alectra's criteria for identifying underground cables that require replacement, have they changed.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Right.  So --


MR. OAKLEY:  -- was there a, you know -- was there new legislation, was there a new standard that came out, did Alectra decide, "Look, we have identified there is a problem we haven't been catching.  We've changed our criteria"?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  So to be clear, your reference is since 2013, the last rebasing?

MR. OAKLEY:  Since the last rebasing, yes.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Thank you.

MR. WASIK:  I'm just...

One moment, Mr. Oakley.  I'm just going to turn up the evidence in our DSP where we talk about...

I think it would be very helpful, Mr. Oakley, if we turned our attention over to page 194 of the DSP.  What this section identifies is that as of 2012 when Enersource -- the former Enersource implemented formal asset management practices, during that time it incorporated new identification methods, and one of those methods of identifying investment needs was -- we consider that to be our overlay methodology.

So that's the methodology where we utilize maps with known failures and conditions of assets, including other investment requirement system renewal needs.  And I wanted to demonstrate to you that on page 196, which is Figure 74, this is a new practice relative to our asset management prior to that, which helps us to identify the worst areas of our underground system and allows us to identify various other investment requirements from system renewal perspective and has guided us.

In addition to that, we have seen, as we provided in our evidence, an increasing trend in number of cable failures from 2014 to 2016.  And as a result of identification of those increasing trends we have undertaken and completed an assessment study to try to better understand what's causing the cables to fail.

And since that study we've also been informed of specific types of cables that are prone to failure and have now developed a system renewal project portfolio to go and address those worst areas of underground systems.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  Again, it seems perilously close to a program.  But again, because it's not at a single site, it’s not an identifiable project.  It seems to be a number of discrete sites that have a similar problem, but I'm not going to belabour that any further.

Typically, are most of the identification -- or most of the cables that are identified for replacement besides this overlay program, are they related to age of cable and type of cable?  Is that really a primary driver, or sort of the primary drivers of actual replacement when it's time to go to the field to replace?

You don't just simply go to these neighbourhoods and there might be, for example, a cable in duct and it's perfectly fine, a new tree-retardant XLPE.  You're not going to just replace it because it was in a neighbourhood that showed up high on the overlay program, right?  There are actual other selection criteria that are used to identify what's getting replaced?

MR. WASIK:  As we explained on page 195 in terms of how we apply the overlay methodology, we look at various different criteria, which includes historical failures.  It also includes other factors that may require renewal, like transformers.  We also look at whether or not there is an opportunity to right-size the system.

So to answer your question before about the program versus project, one of the benefits of doing the subdivision renewal project is that we are capable of right sizing the solution.  Our ICM business cases identify for the proposed ICM projects where we're taking subdivisions that have much more cable in the ground now, and we are able to now right size and replace it with much less cable to make the system more efficient, and our project more compact.

So we do use multiple criteria to select the site, and we also review what the specific scope of the projection prior to the undertaking.

But once again, this overlay methodology is used to guide us, to inform us as to the worst areas, and to look for opportunities where we're most effective by addressing multiple system renewal needs at once.  That provides customer value and we feel that it minimizes the disturbance for customers that we go there once and renew their infrastructure as opposed to repeating coming back multiple times for multiple different investment needs.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay, thanks.  But I just want to clarify again.  The new information you have since the last rebasing, since you would have had age and type of cable and installation, whether it's direct, duct work whatever, you would have this that information at the time of the last rebasing.  What you didn't have was this overlay methodology; is that the differentiation?

MR. WASIK:  We also mentioned we completed a cable study that was completed in 2016 that helped us understand what specific types of cables are causing us failures, and that has guided our ability to identify and address those specific assets.

MR. OAKLEY:  And you weren't aware before that study that non tree-retardant XLPE had problems?

MR. WASIK:  We wanted to better understand, so we could direct our effort to which specific assets are causing us the largest amount of outages and challenges, and that system study informed us and guided us in our decision, and that wasn't available last time.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  A follow-up: Can you make a copy of that available, please, that system study?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we'll do that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO PROVIDE THE CABLE STUDY


MR. WASIK:  Just for clarification, that's a cable study, not a system study.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, system study.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  Could we move to ERZ-Staff-29C?

MR. WASIK:  One moment, please.  Yes, I'm with you, Mr. Oakley.

MR. OAKLEY:  I'm trying to identify really what all has changed since the original base capital filing or the rebasing to create this incremental need for the York MS that would qualify it as an ICM project.

And just confirming, were all or most of the factors identified in the business case, like reliability issues due to cable egress protection, substandard configuration, outdoor station equipment problems related to highways, animals and weather, known at the time of the rebasing?  Because they're listed as factors in the decision to do this.

MR. WASIK:  One second, Mr. Oakley.  I'm going to turn up a response that we provided with regards to information as to what was known to us.  I believe we provided that response to an IR already.  I'm going to turn that up, because I think that might be helpful.

Unfortunately, I can’t find the -- at this point, I can't find the reference to the response.  But looking at the response provided, one of the things that I wanted to bring to your attention, Mr. Oakley, is the primary driver of the York MS and the reason why we’re moving it forward for proposal for 2018 implementation is the identification of growth in that business park area.  And that information has been recently used by us.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  And actually in respect to that, you had noted that because it supplies a Meadowvale Park business area, there was potential non-growth there.  Who did the forecast for the 20 MBA increase in load I think that was spoken about?

MR. WASIK:  So the growth forecast was based on the growth projections from the city of Mississauga for that particular area.

I would like to turn your attention over to page 72 of attachment 47, and Figure 20 reflects the growth projection.  On the previous page -- excuse me, two pages previous to that on page 69, we identified that in November 2013 the City of Mississauga released a growth projection.  So it was not known to us prior to the last application.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  So just to clarify, this is the City of Mississauga load growth projection?

MR. WASIK:  This is the City of Mississauga employment projection, which we then used to determine the impact to capacity needs.

MR. OAKLEY:  And again, so that was an internal calculation or -- that took the City of Mississauga employment projection and transformed it into a load growth projection?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. OAKLEY:  Has that been filed?

MR. WASIK:  The calculation has not been filed.

MR. OAKLEY:  Would it be possible to actually have that provided?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we'll do that.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO PROVIDE THE CALCULATION THAT TOOK THE CITY OF MISSISSAUGA EMPLOYMENT PROJECTION AND TRANSFORMED IT INTO A LOAD GROWTH PROJECTION.

MR. OAKLEY:  If we could go to ERZ-Staff-38C.  And in Alectra's response to that question it's stated:

"Alectra Utilities has not incorporated any allowances or place holders for unanticipated system access investments in the Enersource RZ."

Which I assume refers to again the base capital at the last rebasing.

So is it standard practice not to allow a place holder for unanticipated system access in an incentive regulation filing?  It seems to me that there is some knowledge there will be at least some amount of system access being sought.  Does that mean that every time someone requires system access that it becomes an ICM project, or how is it dealt with otherwise?

MR. WASIK:  The methodology that has been applied in terms of system access investments specifically to customer-based demand initiatives, such as new connections, has been completed by looking at the historical trending.  And that's the methodology that has been applied.  So in that historical trending there isn't additional allowances or place holders placed on top.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks, but system access is bigger than just customers requiring access to the system.  There are road moves that are involved.  Basically wouldn't it incorporate everything that's not a non-volitional investment that's required by outside forces effectively again for things like road moves or road widenings, that sort of thing, that's sort of an ongoing process in most jurisdictions.  And I just want to clarify there is no allowance for any such things in Alectra's capital base for that sort of activity?

MR. WASIK:  Are we referring to the Enersource rate zone in this specific question --


MR. OAKLEY:  Yes, sorry, yes, just for the Enersource rate zone.

MR. WASIK:  I think it might be helpful specifically to addressing your question with regards to road widenings to turn our attention to page 27 of the DSP.  So the Enersource rate zone, the Alectra efforts in the Enersource rate zone specifically for understanding the road-widening needs, is to have continuous communications and updates with regards to the various different utilities.

So we are well aware of the various different proposed roads, and our approach with regards to budgeting those particular initiatives is to do our best to estimate what will take place in that particular year based on known projects.

And section 1.2.2.1 identifies our efforts through the public utilities coordinating committee to identify those specific needs.  So once again, we don't place additional allowances and place holders.  We try our best to estimate what will actually require construction or relocation.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  So basically, it's a sort of a trending from past practice, is primarily what's going to drive what goes into the capital rate -- or capital base budget at the time of rebasing.  Again, I'm just trying to understand how much allocation you have for the unknowns, because if you're going to do a multi-year, let's say five to ten years, sort of incentive regulation program, you can't obviously know what's going to happen in year ten, but you can know that there will likely be something happening in a dynamic city like Mississauga, which is always growing and widening roads and that sort of thing.

So just to understand whether that would always show up as an ICM application every time a change happens or if there's a certain level of it that's just accounted for based on past trends and discussions again with the municipality?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Oakley, I've tried my best to sort of explain that, you know, for various different system access investments we base our budgets based on historical trending and known information.  I've also tried to explain from a road-widening and various other sort of main infrastructure investments that our budgets are based on the best information at the time that we put our budget together.  And I tried to outline how we obtain that information from either the city or the region.

I want to clarify one more time that we don't place any additional allowances or place holders in that.  We try to forecast and provide budgets as most accurate as we think that will take place.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  Thanks.  That's fine.

MR. GARNER:  Mr. Oakley, can I follow up, and Mr. Smith, I will shorten mine by just asking this now -- my questions later.

MR. SMITH:  So you say.

MR. GARNER:  So I say.  One of the things about these type of system access projects is there's -- as we were -- was being talked about, there's certain risks or unknowns in it, in that you're not in control, for instance the city has got projects that get done or not done at certain times, right?

And in this application I think one of these big larger transportation projects you're asking for a deferral account because of those risks; is that correct?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. GARNER:  So what I'm trying to understand -- well, let me just finish with this.  And one of the other risks is -- or one of the other unknowns as opposed to some other projects is there's capital contributions that you get.  And depending on the size of the project and the agreement, that's also an unknown to you at the time; is that correct?

MR. SMITH:  All right.  Are you now talking in specific --


MR. GARNER:  Not in specifics, no.  I'm talking generally that's one of the issues that these system access projects have, because whether it's a developer or the city there's contributions to be made in the project that add to the unknowns.  Perhaps not the risks, the unknowns of these projects.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  I think it's important to parse the discussion on the projects for which we're seeking the deferral account versus other system transportation-related system access projects, Mr. Garner, to which you're referring.

You're right; there is a level of unknown in terms of total amount of contributed capital.  But as I think my colleague, Mr. Matthews, will confirm, there is some guidance based on past practice and past experience in terms of level of contributed capital.  And going back then to where your question started on the deferral account, it is known that there is no contributed capital in that regard.

MR. GARNER:  Well, help me -- thank you, that's very helpful, because that’s where I was really going is, as you say, parse the difference between the deferral account that you're asking for a and these other projects.

What I'm trying to understand is how do you parse that -- how did you parse that difference?  You have a number of larger and smaller projects.  How did you come up with parsing the difference in this case for the ones you're asking a deferral account for?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  So in the case of the two GO electrification projects, one in the PowerStream rate zone and one in Enersource rate zone, the distinction is while we know we are going to have to move our assets out of the way, and that has been made clear to us by Metrolinx, we do not know by what time frame and the number of crossings that Metrolinx expects to do in those rate zones and by what time.

So the schedule is unknown.  We have a sense of magnitude based on current design, frankly estimations, but we don't have final design specifications, so the myriad of risks or unknowns has driven us to parse those two projects into -- we know that this is quite big.  We know it's coming.  It could hit us in 2018.

We think the prudent thing to do in that case is to request the deferral account, recognizing amounts that get put into the deferral account ultimately get reviewed by this Board for prudence at time of disposition.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I heard two things, and I will say them back to you, so I’ve got them right.

The two things I hear that are critical that you're saying is schedule timing and design, basically knowing what you need to do.  Those are the two critical aspects that differentiate in this case?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  I think that's fair.  Perhaps the third criteria that's missing from that is the sheer magnitude of the two GO electrification projects.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And for scheduling, people say things are going to happen, right; but there's scheduling and there’s scheduling.

How do you -- what determines that now we know this is actually going to happen, this is the schedule.  Is it a contract?  Is it the handshake?  What is it that gets you there for scheduling and saying we know that?

MR. MATTHEWS:  With respect to what we would call typical road widening regional city projects, there is historical trends that we know that level of spending will typically happen year after year, even though the specific schedules in the outlying years may not be known.  However, in the immediate years, we do have schedules and specific projects that have been discussed in detail with the road authorities.  And then we don't do any work until we have a purchase order provided from the region.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

MR. OAKLEY:  If we could move to ERZ-Staff-28A, there is a comment that the scenario -- that the level of reliability would eventually decline was assessed under the approach 50 percent of the proposed ICM projects would be approved.

The assessment of the impact was over the five-year period, 2018 to 2022, and the term decline was determined relative to the intent to maintain the overall system reliability levels, which the proposed ICM projects are expected to achieve.

How did Alectra quantitatively determine that reliability would decline if only 50 percent of the ICM projects were approved?  What was the basis for that claim, or what was the analysis behind that claim?

MR. WASIK:  As we provided in response to ERZ-Staff-28, the basis of that claim was that if 50 percent of the ICM funding was provided, we would look at specific projects that would account for that amount of funding, and consider that we would not move forward with them.  And then we evaluated, for each particular project, the potential reliability impact of not undertaking that system renewal, or not completing that system renewal.  And then we evaluated that over a five-year period.

MR. OAKLEY:  So again, was there a quantitative analysis done, or was this a judgment situation where the management team got together and said we have to take out project XYZ to meet that level and that's going to result in reliability declines -- and again, reliability declines versus what would happen if the ICM project was approved.

And I guess we can also ask is that better reliability than is the normal expectation?  So are your SAIDI and SAIFI numbers going to go up or down with the ICM, and then you would decline against that improvement, or are you going to decline against past performance?

I know I've actually bundled several questions together, so I apologize for that.  But if you get my point here, what did you do to determine that that was in fact the case, or is it just a judgment call?

MR. WASIK:  As we explained in our response to ERZ-Staff-28, we undertook the assessment, so there is an assessment that we completed based on the projects that we are looking for in 2018 for system renewals and other investments.  And we evaluated what would be the reliability impact should we not move forward with implementing those projects, both on a partial ICM funding or no ICM funding basis.

The reference point that we compared in terms of reliability impacts -- and in this particular case, I want to identify that declines in terms of reliability means worsens, so the reliability performance worsens over the time period was relative to our 2016 SAIDI value, which has been known and filed.

And so that assessment was completed based on identifying which particular projects, and then grouping the outage impacts for those particular projects over a five-year period.

MR. OAKLEY:  Just to clarify, there was a quantitative analysis that was done?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.

MR. OAKLEY:  Has that been filed, or is that available to be reviewed?

MR. SMITH:  We can file it.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  TO FILE THE QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS; TO CONFIRM THAT THERE WAS NO MEMO OF ANY DISCUSSION WITH MANAGEMENT

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask a follow-up on that?  I actually have two follow-ups.  The first is there was some sort of spreadsheet or model done, right?

MR. WASIK:  We completed the quantitative assessment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the thing you’ve just agreed to file, right?

MR. WASIK:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is also a report of some sort, right?

MR. WASIK:  No, that's the end of our assessment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How did you communicate this to management and your board of directors?

MR. WASIK:  To be clear, Mr. Shepherd, this assessment provided us scenarios that were discussed between management, and we evaluated the -- the quantitative assessment was to inform what would be the impact should we not proceed with specific projects, so it was discussed amongst management.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I asked the question how did you communicate this to management.


MR. MATTHEWS:  It was through a meeting, discussion at a meeting.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Nothing was written down anywhere?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Mr. Shepherd, we had discussions amongst management, both within regulatory and operations, operations with senior management, and through those meetings and discussions, that informed the projects that were required to be brought forward for this application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Still non-responsive.  Was anything written down or not?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  I think that we have each said that we discussed it verbally.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'm going to ask you to include in the undertaking you've just provided -- you have provided an undertaking, right? -- any memos, PowerPoints, or anything like that that describes the results of your reliability analysis within/without ICM projects.  Can you do that?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd --


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  That was not the undertaking we agreed to.

MR. SMITH:  -- A, that wasn't what we agreed to, and I think the witnesses have already told you that there was no memo coming out of this, so I can undertake to confirm that.  That's what they just said.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.  If there was nothing written down that communicated this to anybody, these results to anybody, then you can just say so.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then my second follow-up is, in your -- in Mr. Lyle's study, you had a series of questions in which you said to users -- or to customers, here is the best case, you give us this money, and you'll maintain the same reliability, then here is if we do only some of the projects, and this is how much it will cost you, and your reliability will decline, and then if we get no extra money it will decline significantly.

I have two questions about that.  First, how did you communicate that to Mr. Lyle?  And secondly, what are the basis of those numbers in all your questionnaires?  And can you provide those or are they included in the material you already agreed to provide?  Because you have specific numbers.

Do you want some references to the study, to help?

MR. SMITH:  I think they're digging up a reference --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Because I have lots of them if you want them.

MR. WASIK:  The scenarios that we have provided in ERZ-Staff-28 coincide with the scenarios with regards to the customer engagement work that was done by Innovative Research.

I would like to turn your attention page 26 of the -- I believe this is attachment 51 -- which shows with regards to the ICM project funding when it was positioned to the customers in terms of their preferences, the same scenarios were applied, in the sense that if we were to attain ICM funding Alectra Utilities expects to maintain reliability levels.  If we are to receive partial funding, that reliability eventually declines.  And if there is no moving forward with the ICM funding, the scenario we considered was that reliability could decline significantly.  And these -- this assessment is the basis of explaining the scenarios between eventually declines and declines significantly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand all that.  I was asking whether the numbers you use in the questionnaire -- because you have specific numbers.  Residential customer, if you give us what we want it will cost you this much, if you give us only part of what we want your reliability will decline and it will cost you this month (sic), and if you give us nothing it will decline significantly.

Do those numbers come out of the model that you've agreed to provide?  Will we see them there somewhere?

MR. WASIK:  The -- yes --


MR. SMITH:  He is asking you whether they are the same.

MR. WASIK:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you didn't do a model that says reliability improves, did you?

MR. WASIK:  No --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you didn't offer that scenario to your customers.

MR. WASIK:  No, our intent was to maintain reliability levels.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So your basic message to them was, if you give us this money we can maintain reliability; if you don't it's going to decline.  Is that right?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  That's correct.  We put to customers that we would be maintaining reliability levels.  That was the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm sorry, though.  My question was a different one.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Oh, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What you put to customers was, you have to give us this extra money in order for us to maintain reliability.  If you don't it will decline.  Is that what you said to them?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  We gave them the propositions as the questions have been laid out in the report that the rate impact to maintain reliability is as itemized.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.  Thank you.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  A lesser investment may decrease reliability.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. OAKLEY:  I just have one more short question and then I think the suggestion was it was time for a break.  So I would save this for after the break, except I think it just is so tied to what we've just been speaking about.
Given your answer to ERZ-Staff-28A, does that mean that according to that answer, that reliability will not be affected if up to 50 percent of ICM projects are not approved?  That seems to be what the answer is saying.

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Oakley, as identified in table I, if partial funding for the ICM, which is 50 percent of the funding scenario as was explained, was to take place, we project that reliability eventually declines.  And table I reflects what that impact is in terms of SAIDI minutes over the next five years.

And below that, we provided in table II for that same scenario reliability eventually declines the worsening of performance in terms of SAIDI in minutes and a percentage.

MR. OAKLEY:  I'm not exactly sure that answers what I asked, which is -- the specific wording is:  The scenario that the level of reliability would eventually decline was assessed under the approach 50 percent of the proposed ICM projects would be approved.

That seems to imply that if anything above -- let's say if 51 percent were approved, there shouldn't be a decline, or is there sort of a straight line that you can trend on this?

Again, on the face of it, the answer seems to indicate that if anything more than 50 percent is approved, there won't be a reliability decline.

MR. WASIK:  As we responded to in our evidence, Mr. Oakley, we will be able to -- we forecast we will be able to maintain reliability levels if we proceed with the projects as proposed under the ICM funding.

So the projects that we propose for ICM funding are approved, we project we will be able to maintain reliability levels.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask a follow-up to that?  Do you have a plan for how you maintain reliability if the Board denies this application?

MR. MATTHEWS:  Mr. Shepherd, if we were to have the ICM funding refused, we would have to review our entire system renewal capital budget and make choices as to which system renewal expenses we would have to cut from the budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  I'm sorry, I wasn't asking that basic a question.  I was asking a more straightforward question, I suppose, which is do you currently have a plan.  Have you gone through the exercise of saying what if we don't get this money, how are we going to maintain reliability.  Have you gone through that exercise at all?

MR. MATTHEWS:  No, we haven't, because our plan is to use these projects to maintain reliability.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't even started this backup plan sort of approach?

MR. MATTHEWS:  No, we haven't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  This would be a good place to take a break.  Twenty minutes; is that enough for folks?  So back just before 11:30.  Thanks everyone.
--- Recess taken at 11:09 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:34 a.m.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  Welcome back, everyone.  We will -- just to confirm the schedule, we need to break at about ten to 1:00 so some of us can attend a meeting, and we'll resume at 2:00 or just shortly after if we're held up a couple minutes, and --


MR. MATTHEWS:  Before we move on to --


MR. SMITH:  Right.  Just one second.  And, sorry, go ahead.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That's it.

MR. SMITH:  Oh, okay.  And, sorry, just so I have it, in case I have to manage my own schedule, the plan is to sit today and tomorrow, and today til 4:30, as I understand.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. MATTHEWS:  So before we move on I would just like to clarify with respect to the answer that I gave to Mr. Shepherd right before the break.  I thought I was answering the question in one way, but I think it could be misinterpreted.  I just want to clarify.  So Mr. Shepherd had asked if we looked at other options that could maintain reliability should we not receive the ICM funding.

So all our ICM -- all our reliability and system renewal projects look at quantifying what system reliability improvements or maintenance will be achieved on each project and investment.  So if we do not get the ICM funding, there is no option available to us to maintain reliability.  Reliability will decline should we not be given the ICM funding.  I just wanted to make that clear.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, let me understand.  So you've done an analysis to determine that it is impossible to maintain reliability unless you get the extra funding?

MR. MATTHEWS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, it's Mark Garner, VECC.  When you say that -- and I know you're going to provide an analysis as part of the undertaking, but just so I understand, when you do that analysis of reliability, are you talking simply about the cause code that is related to defective equipment, or are you talking about reliability in the inclusive sense of weather and all sorts of -- so just, what reliability measure are you talking about when you use that term?

MR. MATTHEWS:  Well, I mean, there's typically there's controllable and uncontrollable.  So severe weather would be something that's uncontrollable.  So we look at all our controllable projects and investments, and then we do an assessment of those, the impact on SAIDI.

And so we understand by not doing them what will be the decline in SAIDI and by doing them how we can maintain SAIDI.  So there is variability with weather, absolutely, year over year.  But what we are talking about is our controllable system renewal capital investments.

MR. GARNER:  So just again to help me here, on controllable, I mean, the way I understand, first of all, the reliability is broken down under cause codes that are pretty common among all utilities.  When you say "the controllable ones" I think of defective equipment.  That seems quite controllable.

Are there other cause codes that you're talking about when you're using that term?

MR. MATTHEWS:  Controllable is primarily defective equipment.

MR. GARNER:  Is there any other, though?  I'm just trying to think of -- I can't think off the top of my head.  There's about ten cause codes.  I can't think about which one would be controllable, other than defective equipment.

MR. MATTHEWS:  So I can't tell you all the details for the cause codes, but there are specific ones.  So for instance, animal outages, there are steps we can take to mitigate animal outages to a certain degree.  So we would quantify that as something that's controllable.  Typically the non-controllable is things such as vehicles hitting transformers, severe weather, et cetera.

MR. GARNER:  Maybe I can just ask it this way, because you're already doing an undertaking and I don't want to belabour it.  Will the undertaking make that differentiation for us so we will understand what you were looking at or in that when you do that analysis?  Will that make that clear?

MR. MATTHEWS:  Yes, it's clear from the --


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  That's sufficient, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, sorry, let me understand.  The 2016 SAIDI that you used as your base line for reliability, was that only the controllable SAIDI or was that your total SAIDI?  And similarly, the forecast in Staff 28 A, are they also controllable only, or are they all SAIDI?

MR. MATTHEWS:  It's total.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Total.  Is there some -- is there some -- or I guess your model will show us the difference, though, right?

MR. MATTHEWS:  Yeah, it's a mix of controllable and non-controllable, which is typically trended through historical.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. OAKLEY:  If we can turn to ERZ-Staff-29B, the business case for York MS explains that:

"The failure of a power transformer may result in a prolonged outage to approximately 600 commercial, industrial, and institutional customers that would negatively impact system reliability and result in significant environmental remediation costs."

Is the customer outage risk associated with the failure of the York MS power transformer materially different than the failure of other similarly-sized ERZ power transformers?

MR. WASIK:  So the reliability impact of an outage at the York MS was derived specifically looking at the number of customers that are serviced by York MS.  So other stations service other number of customers, and so they would, depending on how many customers are serviced by station, the outage impact would be different.

MR. OAKLEY:  No, I follow that.  I'm just saying if you were looking at all of your similarly sized transformer stations is the net impact of a failure notably different for the York MS transformers, or is it relatively similar to what would happen if any of the system transformers of a similar size failed?

MR. WASIK:  It would be...

So Mr. Oakley, one of the elements we identified in the business case is that there is a constraint with regards to the backup capabilities at York MS, and so that would be a unique identifier for York MS, in the sense of, if there was an outage at the station what steps we would have to take and how long it would take to restore those customers based on the fact that ingress feeders are constraints, same as egress feeders, so our ability to back up the station would inhibit our ability to restore the customers should a failure occur, and that's a unique identifier for York MS, different than other typical stations.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  And what about environmental remediation risks?  Are they relatively similar for any major transformer that might fail, so anything that's sort of in that same power transformer size?

MR. WASIK:  So specifically for York MS as we identified in the response is that there is no oil containment capability at York MS, so one of the elements that we're proposing to incorporate through this investment is to input environmental contamination facilities to ensure that, you know, should a failure occur we can contain the oil.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How many of your municipal stations have oil containment?  Most of them, or just a few?

MR. WASIK:  I don't have that information in front of me, so I don't know at this point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you just tell us generally?  I mean, is this -- like, for example, if the last ten that you built or the last three that you built had it because that's a best practice, you could tell us that, right?

MR. WASIK:  I don't know, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. MATTHEWS:  There is a percentage.  We couldn't tell you the number without going back and looking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So is one of the things you're going to start doing over the next several years adding that change to municipal stations?

MR. MATTHEWS:  Yes, that's the new standard.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're going to retrofit your existing municipal stations with that on some sort of backlog project like transformers?

MR. MATTHEWS:  Only if the requirement is there to do replacement at the station.  We're not going to proactively go and install it at all our sites.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you're rebuilding a station, you'll rebuild it to current standards.  But you won't go back and say, well, we should have oil containment in all our stations, so let's get that done over the next five years?

MR. MATTHEWS:  It's most economic do that as part of a rebuild, so we're not looking at proactively doing this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  That's helpful.

MR. OAKLEY:  If we can look at ERZ-Staff-38E, your response says some of the underground cable rebuilds proposed for the ICM are evaluated higher priority, and some are evaluated to be lower priority to other underground cable rebuilds in base capital based on Enerzone rate zone project prioritization evaluations.

First of all, isn't that sort of a risky approach not to have sort of all the highest priority ones in base capital?  Because if you get a disallowance, wouldn’t that mean that higher priority projects are therefore potentially at risk, or would that then lead to a reshuffling?

Again, I don't understand why the highest priority work wouldn't be in base.

MR. WASIK:  As we have provided in this particular response, we have identified there's other factors and criteria that determine the ranking.  And so from that standpoint, when we evaluated and put together the ranking practices, we looked at the various different drivers that impact this.


When we looked at the ICM projects, we recognized that some of the projects have been identified earlier in the process, and those formed the base capital and we've -- there is a mix.  So some of the projects are higher priority; some projects lower priority.  There isn't a prioritization for an ICM based on the ranking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have higher priority projects that are not in your base capital, and you have lower priority projects that are in your base capital based on when you identified them.  Is that right?

MR. WASIK:  When we became aware the investment is required, that sort of determined -- in addition to looking at whether or not we have sufficient amount of funding to cover the investment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  By implication, does that mean that when you -- let's say the Board were to deny the ICM, would you then have to go back and reprioritize and say, well, these higher priority things that were ICM projects still have to get done, so we’re going to have to delay these other things to do them.  Is that fair?

MR. WASIK:  I think, as Mr. Matthews pointed out earlier, should we not receive the funding for the proposed ICM projects, we would have to review our system renewal investments and reassess what we can do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  But I'm asking a more fundamental question.


You're going to want do a higher priority rather than lower priority projects, regardless of whether they’re base or ICM, right?


MR. WASIK:  Well, there are specific projects in ICM that are mandatory, that have to be done.  So we would have to look at those, and then we would have to reassess against all that, in terms of what else is possible to complete.  So that's what we would do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You generally do higher priority projects before lower priority projects, unless there is some sufficiency to reorder them, right?


MR. WASIK:  There's other constraints, Mr. Shepherd, that we've identified in the distribution system plan, in terms of how we pace and prioritize investments.

We obviously look at the various different business values, and we have to make those determinations in totality as opposed to one project at a time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. OAKLEY:  I think this question has sort of already been answered, but maybe we can have a follow on to it, which is ERZ-Staff-41D(ii).


So the SAIDI SAIFI numbers that were provided here, do they include or exclude major environmental damage and loss of service?

MR. WASIK:  Excuse me, Mr. Oakley.  Could you tell me the reference to loss of service?  I'm trying to follow that in your reference.

MR. OAKLEY:  I don't think there is one.  I'm asking the question if those numbers include or exclude major environmental damage and loss of service.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Can you clarify your reference?

MR. SMITH:  Which numbers?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  ERZ-Staff-41, is that right?

MR. OAKLEY:  41 -- this may be the wrong reference.  Maybe it's 40, sorry.  Sorry, wrong reference.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  So now your reference is ERZ-Staff-40, part?

MR. OAKLEY:  Looks like C(iii) or C3.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Okay.  Do you have that?

MR. WASIK:  Yes, I'm there with you.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Mr. Oakley, would you mind repeating the question now?


MR. OAKLEY:  Sure.  Do those numbers that we see here do they include -- this is all causes, major environmental damage, and loss of service?

MR. WASIK:  So the question asked, and I believe we responded in providing what the impact of the cable failures in the specific neighbourhoods are.  So these particular outage numbers reflect cable failures only.


MR. OAKLEY:  Okay, thanks.  Have you provided numbers for these that include all causes anywhere, just so we can see what the delta is effectively?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Oakley, I'm not sure I follow your question.  Could you rephrase it for me, please?


MR. OAKLEY:  I'm just trying to understand the incremental impact of the cable failures on the performance in these neighbourhoods.  In other words, they will have outages due to other causes, loss of service, major environmental damage, those sorts of things; people driving cars into transformers and that sort of thing.

But what part of the performance is due exclusively to the cable replacements or the cable failures versus other causes?

They're just given as SAIDI and SAIFI numbers, so it doesn't explicitly say they're due to a particular cause or another.  So I'm trying to understand what's the delta.


MR. WASIK:  Just to be clear, Mr. Oakley, you're asking us to provide what the SAIDI and SAIFI impacts are for cable failures?

MR. OAKLEY:  No.  I thought that's what you said these are.


MR. WASIK:  Yes.


MR. OAKLEY:  So what are the SAIDI and SAIFI numbers for all causes again?


MR. WASIK:  I'm sorry, Mr. Oakley, I misspoke.  These cause codes are for all outages in the areas.  But we can go back and evaluate the SAIDI impacts of just the cable failures, to break them out for you.


MR. OAKLEY:  Yeah, thanks, that's what I was trying to understand, and I appreciate --


MR. WASIK:  My apologies.  I mis --


MR. SMITH:  We're happy to do that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  That'll be Undertaking JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO PROVIDE AN EVALUATION OF THE SAIDI IMPACTS OF THE CABLE FAILURES


MR. OAKLEY:  If we can go to Staff -- or ERZ-Staff-42C --


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Sorry, could you just give us a minute to make a note on the undertaking, sorry?

MR. OAKLEY:  Sorry.

Thanks.  If we can go to ERZ-Staff-42C, and it's identified 5.6 million in environmental remediation costs were treated as expense at the time when it was determined that the liability existed to remediate the contaminated sites.  I think this was for 100-and-some-odd sites that you remediated.

Were these extreme or typical cases of remediation due to transformer oil leaks?

MR. WASIK:  The 5.6 million is the aggregate of all of the remediation sites.  There is a variety in terms of the scope and scale of the remediation that had a range.  But this is the totality in terms of the total costs that the former Enersource incurred to remediate the sites.

MR. OAKLEY:  Now, and I think somewhere you said, you know, which sort of means you have got a $50,000 per site average so you could assume something similar if you had other failures that would occur.

But are there one or two sites or some of these sites that were extremely big problems that required a big investment and then the rest were sort of minor?  You take a few shovelfuls of dirt out?  Or are they pretty vanilla?

MR. WASIK:  So there is some variation in terms of the costs depending on the amount of oil that spilled that had to be remediated.  From providing you a sort of a distribution range of what they were, I don't have that information in front of me, but there really isn't extreme in one sense.  I'm not sure if you can help me understand what's the spectrum of an extreme -- like, what would be an extreme --


MR. OAKLEY:  Well, I'm wondering, are there two or three projects that were sort of a million dollars to fix up, and then a bunch of others that were, you know, relatively minor, or are they all kind of within spitting distance of $50,000?

MR. WASIK:  So Mr. Oakley, it would be the latter of your point.  It would be sort of in sort of the range -- I believe you used the term "spitting" -- of $50,000, so it would be somewhere in the 100-, $110,000, at the high end.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  Thanks.

I guess in following up on ERZ-Staff-42E, can you explain why the ERZ still has such a large number of transformers containing PCBs with -- and with major leaks, so both of these causes, given that this issue has been -- being addressed for the last four years at least?

MR. WASIK:  So as we provided in the business case for this particular ICM project, we finished our full inspections of all the transformers as of December 31st, 2016.  So up to that particular point we were still inspecting and identifying the locations and determining their status.  So they could have been identified towards the latter part of 2016 and therefore form a part of this backlog.

MR. OAKLEY:  But some would have certainly been identified earlier, and I guess, with the assumption being that when you identify them you don't wait until you completed the testing program, you actually start remediating, especially those that are potentially more risky environmentally because, you as you have mentioned earlier, there is a pretty significant cost if you have to actually remediate soil.  So I would assume that as you're coming along, and I guess could you confirm that as you identify especially a risky transformer you'll sort of get on to that pretty snappy, rather than waiting around for four years to start action?

MR. WASIK:  So Mr. Oakley, I can confirm that we prioritize leaking PCB transformers and we put those at a higher urgency of address.

MR. OAKLEY:  So that's good for leaky PCB transformers, and I think you made that clear in your filing.  But what about just leaky transformers?  So you come upon a transformer, you've identified it's got, oh, I think you quantify -- or you qualify them as being major leaks, medium leaks, and then minor leaks.  So if you come upon a major leaking transformer, which has got potential environmental risk, I assume that you don't wait til the testing program is finished.  This goes right now into this year's budget to get fixed, correct?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Oakley, we were looking in the reference.  We provided a write-up in terms of the prioritization of our approach, in terms of addressing which transformers, and I can confirm that we do prioritize PCB transformers as well, leaking and non-leaking, in terms of that particular sequence, as well as addressing, as you identified, major, the moderate, and minor leakers in sequence.  So there is a process we follow, and we've provided that evidence in our approach to address the most urgent needs first.

MR. OAKLEY:  Again, I'm just trying to clarify, though.  Let's say hypothetical 2013 you found a major leaker.  You're not waiting til 2017 for this ICM project to be approved.  That goes into this year's action plan, doesn't it?  And even if you had to displace some less high- priority or not as important transformers or -- I mean, you have got a backlog you've spoken about here.  The backlog had to form somehow.  It seems to have endured through the four years of testing.  Surely during that period of testing you were taking the ones that you said, this is a problem.  We should get this one dealt with right now.

MR. WASIK:  Just to confirm, Mr. Oakley, yes, we would, if we identified a leaky PWC transformer, put that at a high-priority list and attempt to address it urgently.

I wanted to take your attention over to our response to ERZ-Staff-24, where we've provided a breakdown of the backlog of the transformers as of December 31st, 2016.  So that would be on page 4 or 5.  And so in this -- in our response to this particular IR we identified what our practices are in terms of dealing with PCB transformers indicating leaking oil.  As you can identify from there is that we have made considerable effort to address those PCB leaking transformers and only have 23 remaining in the backlog, which are also being addressed in 2017.  So we're not waiting for the 2018 project.  We're working to address them as quickly as we can.

MR. OAKLEY:  But there are still a lot of non-PCB, but, I guess, major leaking transformers in the backlog?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct, yes.

MR. OAKLEY:  And that's sort of where my question was really driving from.  I shouldn't have probably said PCB anywhere in this question.

Just again, a big leak is a problem because you have to still remediate, whether it's PCB or not, correct?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. OAKLEY:  So it just -- I assume that again, as you've identified these major leaks, you would deal with them immediately.  But we have a very large backlog still of major leakers while presumably, in base capital program, you've been replacing less major leakers along the way, unless your base capital was perhaps focused solely on major leak replacements.

So, just a question -- how do you end up with so many major leaking transformers after a 4-year program of investigation?  Again, it appears, though -- and you may clarify that it wasn’t, but it appears that you just saved these up for the ICM project.  I assume that wasn't the case, but I just ...

MR. WASIK:  That is not the case, Mr. Oakley.  We have identified that the former Enersource has invested over 19 million dollars addressing leaking transformers since we’ve identified this issue, and we’ve continued to do so, and that investment hasn't been in rates.  So we have been putting a great deal of effort forward to try to address this particular matter.

What you have there is an identification of what the status was at the end of 2016, so that we can properly identify a scope and a schedule to put a plan together.  And that plan has been clearly put into the DSP in terms of our sequence of priority.  I can tell you leaking PCB transformers and the major leakers are at the top of that list.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay, thanks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I ask a follow-up on that?  I'm trying to understand the numbers in 42 -- Staff 42E.  So that 8.3 percent at the end of 2016, that would be equivalent to your 2244, is that right?

MR. WASIK:  I'm sorry, Mr. Shepherd, can you tell me that reference that you’re asking about?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, back to 42E, which is the one that -- Staff 42E, which is the one that Mr. Oakley was asking questions about.

It says that at the end of 2016, you had 8.3 percent of your transformers were leaking, right?  It's on the screen.

MR. WASIK:  Yes, I'm just reading the question, Mr. Shepherd.  8.3 percent is reflective of the entire population of transformers in the Enersource rate zone.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  The question is that 8.3 percent is equivalent to 2244, or is that equivalent to the 2051 in the other table that are just the leaking ones, not the PCB. ones?

Let me put to you a different way.  Maybe this is easier.  Do you have 27,000 transformers or 25,000 transformers?

Your microphone is not on.

MR. WASIK:  I would like to confirm that there is currently 25,329 distribution transformers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then that 8.3 percent is the 2051 leaking transformers you're planning to replace, as you show in the table in Staff 24, right?

MR. WASIK:  Where is your reference to 2051?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The table in Staff 24.  It has a column that says transformers that are leaking is 2051.  Do you see that?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  I see that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's the number that is the 8.3 percent, right?  Because if you divide 2051 by .083, you get 25,000.

MR. WASIK:  One moment, Mr. Shepherd.  I'm going to check that for you.

In order for me to confirm that, I would have to determine what the number of transformers we had at the end of 2016 was, so I can compare the number that's in that table against what that number of that transformer is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We know 2015 is 8.3 percent.  So you can just multiply -- actually, divide.

MR. WASIK:  I'm trying to determine whether that number included the leaking PCB transformers. So the 2052 includes the 23 leaking PCB transformers in…

MR. SHEPHERD:  We don't need that level of precision.  Here’s where I'm going with this.

You’ve  said that over the four years from 2013 to 2016 -- I appreciate you must be an engineer, right?

MR. WASIK:  I am.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You want to get the number exactly right.

MR. WASIK:  I want to confirm for you, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.

MR. SMITH:  You're not declining precision, are you, Mr. Shepherd?  I never understood that to be your modus operandi.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm trying to make it easier on the witness.

From 2013 to 2016, four years, you reduced the number of leaky transformers by 4.3 percent, so you end up with 8.3 percent, so presumably you started with 12.6 percent.

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I calculate is that over those four years, you replaced about a thousand leaking transformers, roughly, or a little more.  And in the next four years, you're planning to replace 2,000, and I'm wondering what's changed to double the rate at which you're replacing them.

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Shepherd, as I provided in a previous response, we continue to inspect and identify leaking transformers up to the end of December 31, 2016, and at that time, we identified more.

So as of January 2013, we are aware of 12.6 percent, but we continue to complete our inspections as per regular cycles and further looked for transformers that was were leaking oil to that particular point.  So that would be the difference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand how that works mathematically, unless the number of transformers in your system altered dramatically in that period -- and it clearly didn’t.  If you had, let’s say, only 24,000 in 2013, these percentages are still going to apply.  You replaced some of them in four years, and you're going to replace twice as many in the next four years.

MR. WASIK:  So Mr. Shepherd, it might be helpful to also identify that during that time we were also replacing PCB transformers, and that would be the difference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had 170 PCB transformers, so that's not going to be the difference in a population that clearly was -- that you had problems with -- at 12.6 percent you had problems with more than 3,000 transformers.  170 isn't going to make this big difference.

MR. WASIK:  If I can take your attention over to attachment 47, page 61 of 75.  We provided a breakdown of all the transformers that were replaced --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. WASIK:  -- 2013 to 2016.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. WASIK:  And...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Attachment 47...

MR. WASIK:  Page 61.

MR. BRETT:  Page 61?

MR. WASIK:  Page 61.  So that provides a listing of all the transformers that were replaced from 2013 to 2016.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you replaced 2,000 in that four-year period, the same as you're planning to replace in the next four-year period, but your percentage of leaky transformers only went down by 4.3 percent, only a third of them.

So if replacing all -- the whole 12.6 percent is 4,000, which it is, right, you've said, then how is replacing 2,000 reducing it from 12.6 to 4.3?  That math doesn't seem right to me.

MR. WASIK:  Again, we were continuing to inspect and identify the number of transformers from 2013 to 2016.  So the number of leaking transformers that was known to us would have increased.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you're planning to do then is you're basically planning to replace transformers at the same rate that you replaced from 2013 to 2016, you're not doubling it at all?

MR. WASIK:  We're not doubling, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. OAKLEY:  If we could go to ERZ-Staff-54A.  The question in this case was:

"Attempt to determine if Alectra had done something to cause the positive reliability performance trend."

And the answer seems to indicate at least that the apparent improvement was largely due to external factors, the implication being the changes in performance at least in this case are largely out of Alectra's hands.

Can you confirm that that's the case, that really changes either in positive or negative performance are largely going to be due to external factors?

MR. WASIK:  In our response we provided that weather has an impact in terms of the reliability.  And so we've identified that reliability numbers do fluctuate depending on weather conditions.

And further than that, we have sort of -- we have identified in our response what the impact of weather is in terms of loading on specific assets and they're increasing the probability of failure.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  But -- so when we look at major trends in performance, the SAIDI/SAIFI numbers, what you're sort of putting before us is that that's largely externally driven, and there's also an impact no doubt due to, you know, maintenance or replacement of old assets.

What we don't understand is the magnitude of those relative impacts, because we've identified that there are some -- you've shown us some trends that show major changes in these performance statistics.

How big of an impact would we see on an annual basis or even averaged over five years due to these other factors?  You know, how do they quantify against it?  Is it something that customers would even notice, given that if you have a bad year of weather you're going to have a lot of failures and a good year you're not going to have many failures?  Do the reliability or the renewal investments you're talking about get lost in the noise of that?  Or are they of the same magnitude, basically?

MR. WASIK:  So it's been our experience, Mr. Oakley, that because of the deteriorating of the condition of the cables we are seeing an increasing rate of failure of the cables.  What we've also seen is that in hot temperatures where the cables are more loaded the probability of that failure is increasing, and that's been our experience to date, is that the variations in terms of impact on cables is that weather has the impact of accelerating those failures and causes a higher number of those outages.  So we anticipate that that trend will continue unless we address it through system renewals.

MR. OAKLEY:  I guess to that point, though, you provided information recently that indicated your failure rate for 2017 was actually down quite a bit.  Maybe it was because it was a cool summer.  But the bottom line is again the trend seems to be more impacted by weather conditions than it is by anything else.

MR. WASIK:  Can you please help me identify the reference where you identified 2017 stats?

MR. OAKLEY:  I would have to go...

I don't have the reference at my fingertips.  I know that there was a -- at one of the IRs there was certainly a response that showed us failure rates for this summer that were provided.  I would have to go look for that one, sorry.
MR. WASIK:  Mr. Oakley, our experience in 2017 so far is that the number of cable failures was -- as we provided in our response, was higher than 2014 and 2015, but not as high as 2016.

So to -- it further illustrates the point that I was making earlier, is that cable failures and the trend of cable failures is increasing.  In some years when it's hotter the number of cable failures increases even further.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  Thanks.

If we can go to ERZ-Staff-57.  I'm just looking for some numbers to get reconciled, because I couldn't understand them.  That may be my fault, but if you could help me here.

In ERZ-Staff-57A it says 29 percent of units -- that's 170 over 587 -- have reached end of life.  But if we look at Figure 18 of the DSP -- it's I think PDF page 89 -- it shows that approximately 10 percent of the 834 switch gear assets are in very poor condition.

Could you reconcile those two numbers?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Mr. Oakley, what was the DSP reference again?

MR. OAKLEY:  I've got -- it's PDF page 89.  Sorry, that's not exactly mapping over to the -- there's a few-page offset there.  I can actually pull it up for you here.  It's page 40 of 405.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Page 40?

MR. OAKLEY:  Yes.

MR. WASIK:  So Mr. Oakley, the question in ERZ-Staff-57 asked for the percentage of unit reaching end of life which are air-insulated.  So we've responded by providing the proportion of air-insulated switch gear that are end of life.  What you're referring to, in terms of Figure 18 in terms of pad-mounted switch gear, includes both air-insulated and solid dialectric switch gear, so the population would be greater.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  Thanks.  My reference doesn't seem to exactly map either.

If we go to ERZ-Staff-64, in your response to part C you say:  "Transformer replacement is not based solely upon the age of the transformer.  However, the DSP," and this is page 213 of 405, which is not a PDF reference; I think that's an actual reference.

Page 213 of 405 states:
"Stations found to have transformers approaching 50 years in-service were targeted for proactive replacement."

They seem to be saying different things.

MR. WASIK:  In the context of looking at our understanding of the deterioration of power transformers, we do look at age as one of the criteria.  But we also look at other variables to inform us, such as visual inspections, yearly oil and gas analysis, Doble testing, ratio/megger testing, age, and historical events and loading.

So age is one of the elements we look at, but there are several other criteria that we assess in the context of addressing those particular items.

If I can take you to page 384 of the DSP, which specifically talks about the efforts in substations, on the top of the -- I'll wait a moment for the screen to come up.

At the very top, we provide in our distribution system plan the explanation that to promote standardization and better serve Enersource rate zone customers, sometimes a substation layout configuration may need to be modified, thereby requiring replacement of the transformers, not because they have approached the end of life, but because they would not fit in the new configuration.

So we did provide evidence that even though we consider age as one of the elements we look at, it doesn't necessarily determine that age is the criteria we address for -- the only criteria we address for replacement.

MR. OAKLEY:  Are there any cases where you would use age as the primary determinant?

MR. WASIK:  Again, we would look at age as one of the variables, with multiple other variables as we've identified in terms of assessing the need to replace a power transformer.  I think we've explained that in our response to part B of your ERZ-Staff-64.

MR. OAKLEY:  So if you had identified, just due to the age of the asset, that it was time to go take a good hard look at it anyway and you went and it was in really top condition, would it then be eliminated from the list, absent any other drivers?

MR. WASIK:  If the transformer was in very good condition and inspection records identified it, we would look at the station in completeness in the sense of what needed to be done.  If it wasn't a station we were looking at standardizing, or if it wasn’t a station we were looking at, it would not be a candidate.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay, thanks.  Can we go to ERZ-Staff-64C -- wait a second, 65B, I should say.  And this is a bit of a follow-on from our last question in that you say in your response:
"Alectra utilities has not developed a distinct business case recommending all station work is bundled."

So when you choose to bundle a project -- in other words, you're going to replace a transformer and some breakers and none of them are really at end of life, but there are -- maybe one of the transformers is at end of life and you really need to replace it, but you might do a whole bunch of other bundling work together that would replace assets that probably are in serviceable condition.  Do you look at the net impact to ratepayers doing that sort of work?

You say there are efficiencies, but are they bottom line efficiencies from a ratepayer perspective, or are they more driven by the desire to get some standardization into the substations?

MR. WASIK:  As we provided in our response to ERZ-Staff-65, when we look at specific driver system renewal needs for substations, we want to look at the entire station in its totality and evaluate the long-term implications of the replacements.  So we would look at standardization as one of the options.

We would look at -- as we provided in our business case for York MS, we look at multiple options for what's possible and derive what the best value for the customer is during that particular time.  And that value also comes in terms of up-front costs.  It also is reflected in terms of ongoing maintenance costs.  It’s also reflected in terms of performance and the duration of outage that we would have -- the number of outages we would have to take in order to undertake this work.

So all those factors are considered, and we’ve explained that in our York MS business case, that we  evaluate all those scenarios and each station is considered on a case-by-case basis.

MR. OAKLEY:  But your answer to 65B says that you don't -- you have not developed a distinct business case recommending that the station work is bundled; in other words, that the methodology of going to bundle these projects that way makes sense from a ratepayer perspective.  Because when you take out of service assets that are -- that still have non-depreciated life on them, there is obviously depreciation expense in addition to the other capital costs associated that is realized in that year of retirement.

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Oakley, I think it would be helpful if I clarified that our response was to the direct question, which is we don't have a business case we will go and replace all of the station assets.

What we said is that when we identify a specific station need, we look at the station in totality and determine what's the most effective, what's the most value based approach to renewing that station.

So what we're reflecting here is that we don't have a business case for -- a one-size-fits-all for all of our stations.  We take each station case-by-case.  We go to the site, we inspect it, we evaluate the designs, we look at it in totality to determine what's the most effective way to provide customer value and performance through that renewal.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  Thank you.  Can we go to ERZ-Staff-66C?  The response seems to indicate that older cables are expected to fail, but once there is an actual cable failure, the expected failure rate goes up or is impacted by that actual failure.

So could you be clearer?  Does a cable failure always demonstrate that the failure rate is actually higher than anticipated, and is that then subsequently built into your expectation of useful life of those facilities?

MR. WASIK:  What we have provided in our response, Mr. Oakley, is that it has been our experience that once a cable has been faulted, that cable has been stressed and that stress degrades the usefulness of that particular cable.  So the higher number of times that a cable has been faulted, the higher number of stress points it has gone through, which leads us to believe that the cable has a higher probability of continuing failure until it becomes at a point where it can no longer be repaired.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks, that's a helpful answer.  I appreciate that.  That clarifies that I’d misunderstood what that was saying to me.

MR. WASIK:  Thank you.

MR. OAKLEY:  If we can go to ERZ-Staff-68, the load forecast shown in that response seemed to show that although the 2017 actual load results are, in some cases, appreciably lower than forecast.  The end state over the forecast period doesn't seem to change for any of these.  There’s a dip, and then there's a bigger bounce back.

Is that simply because you reverted back to the old forecast with a one-year deviation, or was there an attempt to incorporate that year performance into the load forecast?

MR. WASIK:  It would be the latter, Mr. Oakley.  We simply updated the graphs with actuals for the year and not recast the forecast --


MR. OAKLEY:  Okay, thanks, that clears it up.

MR. WASIK:  -- which we believed was what the question asked for.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  That's fine, thanks.  Can we go to ERZ-Staff-41?  I'm actually going to refer to two separate responses here, and the other is ERZ-Staff-67.
And if we look at the response to ERZ-Staff-67A: "Furthermore, failure of resistograph testing will trigger replacement of the pole."

In the response to ERZ-Staff-41A, Alectra states that there were no pole failures from 2011 to 2016 in the Lake John and Church Street areas.  However, the response to ERZ-Staff-41D states:
"The poles in the Lake John and Church Street areas were some of the first poles tested, and which  failed resistograph testing."

Has Alectra correlated pole failures with the resistograph readings?

MR. WASIK:  So Alectra does not run poles to failures.  So we take a proactive approach to address poles that are of -- that fail resistograph testing.  So we don't wait until the poles fail to determine whether the resistograph has worked properly.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  But normally the law of large numbers would decree that if you have things that are imminently about to fail or they've been tested to prove that they are not in acceptable service duty, some of them should fail for some reason in that period of time, and yet we've got a situation here where none of the poles actually failed.

At some point if you're so proactive that nothing ever fails, it may indicate or might it not indicate that you're being too proactive?  So again, is the confidence level when you've got a failed resistograph it's time to go right now, regardless of whether it seems to be actually producing reliability impacts?

MR. WASIK:  So resistograph is one of the elements that we use to take a look at the specific conditions.  There is also visual inspections of the poles.  So maybe it would be helpful if we understood that there are benefits of pole testing which allow you to identify specific characteristics of a pole that you can't visually inspect.  But there's other elements that are required in addition to pole testing that we utilize to determine an imminent hazard, and those are the ones that we follow up for emergency spot replacements.

So if we were to identify those particular hazards we wouldn't wait to put a project together.  Those would be done under a reactive program, similar to how we would find a hazard on a transformer, and that would be an ongoing program that we would run.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.

MR. BRETT:  I just wanted to follow up that with one short question.

So the resistograph test is not a pass/fail test, in the sense that if you do a resistograph on a pole and it fails that test you would then replace that pole?  And the corollary question is, what is the rating, is the pass/fail, the resistograph, and what percentage of your poles do you do resistograph testing on each year?

MR. WASIK:  So we have, as we provided in our evidence, just recently incorporated the resistograph testing in our practices, so year over year the sample of poles that we have from that testing is increasing.

The criteria we evaluate whether or not the pole test through the resistograph testing passes follows the Canadian Standards Association requirements, or 60 percent of the remaining pole strength from the design.  So that's the criteria that we provided in our evidence, and that's what we use to determine whether a pole has passed the test or not.

Once again, Mr. Brett, we -- I want to highlight that we use pole testing as one additional element in addition to various other criteria when we evaluate the need for replacement.  So it's not an immediate ticket to replacement.  There's other elements we take into consideration.

MR. OAKLEY:  I just wanted to again reiterate, though, the direct quote from the response was:

"Furthermore, failure of resistograph testing will trigger a replacement of the pole."

It doesn't seem to be qualified in any way at all.  It's just, resistograph failed, pole replace.  No other factors are involved in that decision.

MR. WASIK:  So it may be helpful to identify that it's one of the elements we identify for a candidate.  It doesn't specify that it's an imminent replacement.  It's something that we track, we then record, and we put as a candidate, and use our overlay methodology, very similar to what we provided in our response to evaluate where the needs are the greatest.

MR. OAKLEY:  So is that basically saying that your response to ERZ-Staff-67A is in fact not accurate?

MR. WASIK:  I would say it is accurate.  I would just add to clarify that it doesn't -- it doesn't state that it's a -- it leads to an immediate replacement.

MR. OAKLEY:  It may be just quibbling, but it says "trigger or replacement".  I guess maybe you trigger it and then it kind of waits around in a triggered state for some time until it then replaces?

MR. WASIK:  Yes.  So as I mentioned, it then becomes a candidate and it becomes a candidate that we then would evaluate in our overlay methodology to determine the worst areas for overhead rebuilds.

MR. OAKLEY:  Okay.  Thanks.

So if we could go to ERZ-Staff-42A:

"Starting in 2013, Alectra Utilities' inspection methodology in the Enersource rate zone was changed to capture improved condition parameters."

Does that mean that the previous practice, which was presumably carried out since the transformers were first installed decades ago, was inadequate?

MR. WASIK:  I would not categorize it that way, Mr. Oakley.  What we've provided in our distribution system plan in our evidence was that since 2012 the former Enersource, now under Alectra Utilities, has implemented a formalized asset management practice.  In that practice we have realized the need for additional inspection and data in order for us to complete our asset management studies and assessments.  Since that time we have made significant inroads and improvements to all of our inspections, which include transformers.

So to answer your question, the inspections that we were completing up to that point provided us that information.  But since we've now formalized asset management and are putting more analysis we require more data from our assets to better understand it.

So we've increased the granularity, we increased the frequency, and we've increased the scope of our inspections in order for us to make improvements into our asset management decisions.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  On a related topic, could we go to ERZ-Staff-71B.  It says that:

"Asset condition assessments have been completed annually since 2011.  The ACA has not resulted in Alectra Utilities evaluating its assets to be in better or worse condition than was thought prior to the ACA evaluation."

And I guess the question here is, if this is the case, is there still a compelling need for the accelerated transformer, cable, and pole replacement programs filed in the ICM?  If they're not in worse condition than you thought they were, this seems like a big delta that's coming on for assets that are just what you thought they were.

MR. WASIK:  I would not categorize it that way, Mr. Oakley.  The asset condition assessment as was completed was based on inspection data that we capture and we evaluate ourselves.  So once the consultant finished doing the asset condition assessment, because we knew what the inspection records identified, we were not surprised at the outcomes.

So we answered the question as was proposed.  The reason we weren't surprised is because we studied the inspection records before we gave them to the consultant and we knew what the status of the assets would be.  So we were not surprised when we received the condition assessment spec.

MR. OAKLEY:  I just want to be clear about this.  So what you're saying is that the methodology change has caused the delta in cost.  The condition is just what you thought it was.  So you're that confident in the methodology change being valid, let's say, that it justifies the ICM that's before us?

MR. WASIK:  I'm not sure if I follow your question.

MR. OAKLEY:  Well, I think you've described that the assets were in the condition you thought they were in.  You've clarified that and you reiterated it.  And now you've had a methodology change, so you're now using a formal asset management program, and it tells you to spend in this case 24 million incremental on an ICM program to renew these assets.

It seemed to be triggered entirely by the methodology change, as opposed to, for example, significant deterioration in reliability or some new fact that's arisen.  So just trying to clarify the cause of the delta.

MR. WASIK:  So Mr. Oakley, when we -- when Enersource implemented the formal asset management practices, that was at that time when we started realizing we needed to have more additional data and we increased our inspections.

As we were inspecting the assets we were looking at what the results of those inspections coming from.  We did inspections year-over-year as we did our asset conditions year-over-year and we've made increased effort and we had increased efforts to capture more data, so as we captured more data we realized that the condition of our assets and had a better idea of what our condition of our assets were since we've started increasing our inspections in 2012.

I just want to go back to clarify that the question asked -- you know, our interpretation of how the question was asked was, were we surprised and did it change our view once we got the asset condition back.  And my response to you is, because we knew what the inspections were telling us, and we were putting in a great deal of effort capturing additional information, we were not surprised that the conditions as provided by the consultant came back as the way they were.  That's simply what we're saying.

So there is no delta because we changed criteria.  It's just that we started looking deeper and understanding better what the condition of our assets are through increased effort on inspection.  That's it.

MR. OAKLEY:  I'm still perplexed, because it still seems to me you're saying they're in worse condition than you might have thought beforehand.

Because you did more inspections, you looked at more data, you got finer granularity, you've now realized, you know, we’ve got a bunch of stuff here that really needs to be replaced.

I'm just looking for consistent rationale for why that changed.  And I still can't say I understand it.

You started these asset condition assessments, this active asset condition assessment in 2011.  You did rebasing in 2013.  You're not surprised by what you found anywhere along the way there.

Again, I just don't understand.  How does it show up that you're now asking in 2017 for a fairly significant delta in capital spend on renewal?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Oakley, when we filed our last cost of service for the Enersource rate zone, we were in the very early stages.  That was in 2012 when we filed, in the very early stages of implementing the formal asset management practices.  Our inspections at that time were not as in-depth, as frequent, and as granular as they are today.

So at that time, we did not have as much insight into the inspection records as we do today.  So when you're asking me about being surprised, it’s that every year as we completed our asset condition assessment, we were recognizing through the inspection records more insight into the assets, and were aware that they are in fact deteriorating at a rate faster than was anticipated.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  Again, what I'm trying to break out here and -- there are a lot of asset management plans, as you can imagine, that have been filed in the last few years with the Board.

In many of those cases, what we've observed is that there's a delta in renewal budgets that happens with the adoption of the asset management methodology.  What we're hoping to understand is how much of that is a spurious outcome of adopting an asset management program, and how much of it is due to the fact there's actually a need that’s different than what was acknowledged or understood beforehand.

I still am not clear on your answers how much of that was due to the adoption of the more rigorous asset management policy or methodology, and how much is due to the fact that things really are worse than you thought and they have to have action faster than you thought.

I am really asking for help here.  I'm not trying to trip you up on this.

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Oakley, I think I can give you an example, a concrete example that can help you in terms of what we provided in our evidence as something that year-over-year we've improved in our inspections.

So previously, we inspected our transformers visually through the outside.  But since of learning that some transformers were leaking oil, we evaluated what else we need to look at in terms of understanding the full element of the asset.

And since then, we've started opening up the transformer to look inside and under the well.  That is additional effort as an example of us increasing our inspections.  But through that practice, we started finding that some transformers were leaking on the inside, which we weren't able to see from visual inspection on the outside.

So it's not -- our investment needs are not identified because we changed the practice.  Our investment needs were focused and identified because the records led to us look in these particular areas.  And once we expected specific assets and found a problem, we believe we have a requirement, an obligation to address it, and that's what we're bringing forward now is that through these inspections, we're now put in a position where we have to act and we have to do the right thing, and we believe we're doing that.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  Actually, to that very point, if you can look at ERZ-Staff-24B, you explain exactly what you just said there, which is that you’ve now updated the inspection methodology to include opening the transformer doors to enable internal condition assessments.

At that time, did Alectra decide to modify its historical asset management strategy for these assets from run-to-fail to proactive?  Was that a decision point for you, because there seems to have been a change obviously in your approach, which is these were once run-to-fail assets, and they're now aggressively being replaced on a proactive approach.

Was that the source?  Was that change in inspection methodology the cause of that methodological change?

MR. WASIK:  I would not categorize what our effort is, in terms of addressing the backlog of transformers, as a change of approach to dealing with transformers from a run-to-failure basis.  That is still the case.

This is actually the premise behind our project is there is a unique specific need which we identify through inspections, which are transformers that are leaking.  Those leaks are not going to fix themselves.  We want to ensure that we catch this particular issue early, before it has a significant environmental impact.

We are putting forward a paced and predictive plan to address that particular need.  So from that particular perspective, our approach in terms of evolving asset management is to identify these specific situations, focus on them in a very specific and direct method, and address those matters.

So as we go and evolve our asset management practices and improve our ability to understand the condition of our assets, and we run into challenges like the leaking transformers, we then have to put forward a plan about how to address them.  And I believe this is the method that we’re doing and we're putting forward for proposal for ICM funding.

MR. OAKLEY:  Thanks.  Those are all my questions.  I really appreciate your patience answering these this morning.

MR. WASIK:  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Can I ask a follow-up on the leaky transformer and the change?

Transformers have always leaked, right?  I mean, that's just one of the hazards they have at all times, right?  Some of them leak from time to time, correct?

So you seem to have come to a moment in time where you said, oh my goodness, there’s not just a few of these things leaking, there's a lot of them leaking, right, and then say, well, we’d better either go and investigate this more, or something like that.

When did that moment in time happen in relationship to the asset management plan, et cetera?  Do you know?  Can you help me with that sort of thing?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Garner, the best way I can categorize is that it’s been an evolution. As we found specific assets -- let's say leaking transformers -- we took a pause and tried to understand what's taking place.  We then looked closer try to get the full scope.

So I would tell you that the real sort of element for us was at the end of 2016, when we looked at the totality of it and said, okay, this is the best path forward in terms of addressing that need.  So when we finished our full fleet of transformer inspections at the end of 2016 is when we, I think, appreciated the magnitude of the challenge in front of us.  And that's where we started framing an appropriate response to address that particular investment need.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  I just have one question to follow-up on that, if I may take us to lunch, presumably.

When did you get the idea initially that you should look inside the transformer to determine whether there were leaks inside, as opposed to simply looking at the outside of the transformer?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Brett, I don't have a specific date. But I can tell you in 2013 -- prior to 2013, we started --just at that particular point, we started realizing that there was oil that was found in the wells, and that not all oil leaks were on the outside.  Some oil leaks were on the inside.  And that also informed us that we should be looking at other elements of the transformer as well, so perhaps the elbows, the connection points, and other elements that could be leaking behind the door that we didn't see before.  So there's other exposed areas we were concerned about.

So I would say it was probably early 2013 that we started or late 2012 that we started thinking that there are other potential sources of leaks beyond the outside.

MR. BRETT:  And the wells are inside the transformer, are they?  Are they a --


MR. WASIK:  Underneath the transformer, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  And basically, if you -- what percentage, if you know, of the transformers that you found to be leaking are leaking on the inside but not on the outside?

MR. WASIK:  I'm sorry, I don't have -- we don't track the breakdown of that --


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  You may not know the next question/answer either, but does a -- if a transformer starts to leak on the inside, at this point there hasn't been any oil come outside the transformer -- this is in the case I'm going to give you -- typically how long does it take -- if a transformer starts to leak on the inside, how long is it before you see it reflected on the outside?  In other words, how long is it before oil starts to escape and affect the environment?  I take it if it's a -- so long as the oil is only on the inside of the transformer there is no impact on the grass or the dirt or anything else.

MR. WASIK:  So Mr. Brett, that is the reason we started opening up the transformers, because we may never see it from the outside if it's leaking down inside the well further down the cables.  So that's the reason we started opening up the transformers, is because it's not typical that if a transformer is leaking down inside the well that we would see it from the outside.

MR. BRETT:  There never is an outside effect, you're saying, in many cases.

MR. WASIK:  If it's leaking down into the well it may not be possible to see whether it's leaking from the outside.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  But it's still inside the transformer, isn't --


MR. WASIK:  No, it's inside the well.  So there is a well under the transformer --


MR. BRETT:  That's what I --


MR. WASIK:  -- where all the cables in the ground go, and that's where it leaks.

MR. BRETT:  So the well is what?  What do you -- what is the well, actually?  Is it cable, is it a tube?

MR. WASIK:  It's a concrete --


MR. BRETT:  I thought you said it was inside the transformer.

MR. WASIK:  So the transformer sits on a concrete pad, and the concrete pad has the cables come up below it --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. WASIK:  -- and the -- generally we have experience that the oil rolls or drips down the cables, down into the ground, and into the soil below it.

MR. BRETT:  I see.  That's what you mean by "in the well".

MR. WASIK:  So without opening up the transformer we wouldn't be able to look down the well and see whether there is any oil going down there.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.

MR. WASIK:  You're welcome.

MR. GARNER:  How does this -- we're talking about Enersource right now, right?  Enersource rate zone.  How does this inspection program, et cetera, differ, or does it differ between the other three rate zones?

MR. MATTHEWS:  So as a result of the experience in Enersource rate zone, we have increased our inspection in the other rate zones to start opening the transformers and checking for internal leaks as well.

MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So we'll see you next year on that one then.

MR. MATTHEWS:  Hopefully not.

MR. SMITH:  When are we coming back?  2:00?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, two o'clock.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:58 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:00 p.m.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Welcome back, everyone.  We are still on Staff's turn for questioning and I'll turn over to Mr. Davies -- no, Mr. Frank, who is also here on behalf of OEB Staff.  I hadn't introduced him at the beginning, because he snuck in just before we started.

So I'll just turn it over to him now for further questioning.

MR. DAVIES:  Mr. Frank will be asking questions on the Brampton rate zone, and I'll be asking questions on PowerStream.

MR. SMITH:  Just so I can keep track of what we’re doing, we were on Enersource before and now we are moving on to different rate zones, and then we’re going to go to Mr. Brett.

Just so I’ve got the lay of the land, is that the plan?

MR. DAVIES:  My understanding was we were doing the ICMs in the three rate zones each, and then we will do our three and Mr. Brett would do his and through the intervenors…

MR. SMITH:  Understood.  I just wanted to make sure I was on the same page.
Questions by Mr. Frank:


MR. FRANK:  I'm Andrew Frank, and I'm going to be asking questions on the Brampton rate zone.

So if we could flip to the interrogatory response -- actually, I would like to start with ERZ-Staff-4, the attachment at the end of this one.

Can we zoom-in on the first few years and maybe scroll over, so we can see the forecast in the first few years?  Excellent.

My observation here on this forecast is that we have six years of actual load followed by the remaining years forecasted.  And to me, this looks like an optimistic forecast, to say that in six years, we're at 33.7 -- that's the unit megs, I believe -- and within three years, it's more than doubling.

Is it fair to say this looks -- I mean, in hindsight, it was obviously was optimistic.  But just looking at it even from the perspective of a -- even from the viewpoint of a perspective forecast, would this look optimistic?

MR. WASIK:  At the time that we were evaluating the first true-up, we were under the impression that the economic recession was now at an end.  We saw indications that identified that the housing growth has now returned to levels before the downturn.

And so the outlook that we had at the time we negotiated the first true-up reflected those positive indicators, which was that the economy was now appearing to be back, and the very strong housing market at that particular time did suggest that.

We were also connecting a lot of residential subdivisions at that particular time, and we anticipated the housing market would continue in the strong manner it has, and were anticipating that growth to continue through the period.

So our view on that is that it was a realistic outlook based on our expectation that the economy did return, and that the strong housing market would continue in that area.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  If we can move to the attachment in ERZ-Staff-5, so that will be a couple more pages down.  Now in this one, I think we're seeing over the first 10 years a little over 40 megs is materializing.  And if we go out to look out to the whole time horizon, we can see that the load is expected to grow at roughly four megs per year out to a little more than 100 megs at year 25.

To me, just intuitively, that looks like a realistic forecast.  I mean, there's blips, but a reasonable projection of what one might think going forward at this point.

Is that -- does that seem reasonable as well, that this is probably more of a middle line realistic forecast?

MR. WASIK:  What I would provide, in terms of a response to this and the previous question, is that we believe both of the forecasts -- at the time we were implementing it, both appeared realistic to us.  We tried as best as we could to put accurate forecasts forward and the reflection of that is presented in both of those models that you have.

MR. FRANK:  I think I'm hearing that Alectra through Brampton rate zone and previously Hydro One Brampton is responsible for preparing the forecast on a forward-looking basis.  Is that correct?

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.

MR. FRANK:  Thank you.  When the time comes to make a true-up payment, is it fair to say the Brampton rate zone is effectively deciding the amount of the true-up based on the forecast that goes into this model?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Frank, it would be fair to say that the true-up is a reflection of both the actual data, or actual loading experience to-date, and a forecast that's presented and agreed upon by both the Hydro One Brampton or former Hydro One Brampton and Hydro One to ensure it reflects a reasonable and accurate outlook forward.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  So if the actual payment ends up being less than the ICM amount, then what?  Is it just extra profit for Alectra, or what happens?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  The Board has provided for true-up mechanisms for ICM, and that can be the subject of a true-up.  In recent experience, there's other ICMs that are related to this same item or cause of item, but where the amount was already confirmed and known.  So we recognized that a true-up may be necessary in this instance.

MR. FRANK:  And the other point I have, or the other part I have on this one is since it looks to me like this could result in an overpayment to Hydro One Networks or an under payment, it's really impossible for me to tell which way a 15 year true-up would go, or if there is one.

But if there were an amount -- if there were an overpayment in this case and a true-up were due to the Brampton rate zone, how would that play out for ratepayers?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  So in the event -- let me start with if there wasn't a 1five-year true-up because we've accurately, as accurately as possible, forecast load and the load forecast has materialized as anticipated, or within -- I believe it’s within a 20 percent band, Hydro One gives a notional credit.

But that being said, the 1five-year true-up would be 2023, or the negotiation at least with Hydro One would occur in 2023, which at least, all things being equal, if the true-up mechanism for this ICM is at the next rebasing, customers will not be on either side of that.  The true-up will happen after the next payment as -- or after the next checkpoint, if you will, next five-year anniversary.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm going to move on to Brampton rate zone.

MR. GARNER:  I just didn't understand that.  Isn't the question at the 1five-year true-up if it goes the other way how does that money go back to the ratepayer?  Isn't that the question?  And if it is, I didn't understand the answer.

Hopefully yours works better than mine.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  It does now.

Maybe I misunderstood Mr. Frank's premise.  So I'll try again.  The -- I would go back to my original response before Mr. Frank's second question, which is that if we've overpaid or if the amount was supposed to be less and has ended up being greater, the ICM can have true-up mechanism as the Board normally sets out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That true-up is on your next rebasing, right?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that would be -- if you finish your merger with Guelph, that would be 2028?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  This -- Alectra has a ten-year rebasing deferral period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Unless you have another merger, in which case it extends further, right?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Alectra has a ten-year rebasing deferral period.  That's all I know about at this point.  And so that rebasing would be 2027.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So if we give you extra money now and for the rest of the next ten years, you're going to give it back to us ten years from now if it's too much.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  The Board's policy for true-up is at next rebasing, and that's the opportunity for true-up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I have another follow-up question on this.  Mr. Frank asked you about the forecast, and you said that you were expecting strong housing growth.  And I guess I'm trying to understand, you were offside on your forecast by 20 times in the first year.  And you continue to be offside by about four times the load.  I don't understand how that's because of housing growth.  That sounds to me like you just screwed it up.

Can you help me, give us a fuller explanation of how it got so bad?  It's really bad, right?

MR. GARNER:  Yeah, and, sorry, just to follow up, if you look at 2 VECC 8, we have the same question.  You'll see on the peak load demand is -- you're not even at 50 percent of peak demand on that station, right?  And it just seems so wildly different than the original forecast.

To follow up Mr. Shepherd's question, what I was going to ask -- and maybe you could answer this -- is what was the forecast based on in growth?  Did you provide that with this station?  Did you provide the Board in that application with an actual forecast of customer housing growth and/or other growth that supported that station?  And if you did, can you show us what the update of that is?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, that's a lot of questions now, and --


MR. GARNER:  Fair enough.

MR. SMITH:  -- we'll do our best to answer them, and the answer may or may not line up with all five or six that you've just asked, but I think directionally we have a sense of what you're interested in.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So do we need to make this an undertaking?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  No, no, no, no.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, you're -- oh, you're going to just -- the questions -- okay --


MR. SMITH:  I think the witness is --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  -- ready to give an answer --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry.

MR. SMITH:  It's just a lot of questions at once.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Yes.

MR. WASIK:  I think it would be helpful to turn our attention to attachment 21, page 3 of 5.  So Figure 1 reflects the annual peak demand at the Pleasant TS on the 27.6 yards.  And in terms of the initial forecast that you reference, Mr. Garner, is that that forecast was set towards the end of 2005 during the beginning stages of the negotiation with Hydro One in terms of a build of a station.

At that time Hydro One Brampton was running, as we provided in our business case, was running that station well over the ten-day LTR, which is the limit.  In fact, we had challenges with summer peaks because the transformer was so overloaded.  So during that particular time in 2005, as you can see, there was a significant amount of growth from 2002 to 2005, and at that time Brampton was and continues to have great amount of growth.

What happened subsequent to that -- as you can tell, there was a trough between 2006 and 2012 -- is we had an economic downturn.  So that economic downturn has caused that demand to drop.

The second element that is contributing to the fact that when the station was put into service in 2008 there was an immediate shortfall, is that by development of the CCRA with Hydro One they look at all the stations and pool them together.

And so if there is reductions in other stations they subtract that from the new growth.  And so that's in fact what made the situation look even worse, is that we, because of the economic downturn, we saw demand drop at the other station yards, and those caused the peak to even -- look even worse.

And so even though we are connecting feeders to the new yard and connecting new customers, because we had reductions in other areas, the Hydro One discounts them.

The third part that's also very --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can I just ask a question about that before you get to the third part?  You assumed that there would be no available capacity in any of the other stations throughout the piece, right?  That from the time Pleasant was built the contribution from other stations would be zero for every year, right?

MR. WASIK:  So that was part of the analysis before the station was built.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  Go on, sorry.  You were on number 3.

MR. WASIK:  And so when we examined the impacts, one of the other elements that has also become quite apparent to us and we provided it in our evidence is that we were continuing to connect customers.  And so loading was in fact required.  We needed to have the capacity to connect the customers.  But that the way the CCRA model works is they look at the average monthly, and so even though we were having summer peaks that required the station to be built, the shoulder periods we saw the demands drop even more, and so that makes the overall average for the year, which is the basis upon which Hydro One calculates it, look even worse.

So those are the three factors that I would provide to you to help explain why the peaks unfortunately didn't materialize as we expected.

And then you see towards 2012, which is the beginning of when we started looking at the five-year true-up, we started experiencing a pickup again of the economy in the housing market.  And it caused us to at that particular time have the outlook that that growth is going to return.  Unfortunately since then it's again dropped, but there is indications it's picking up again.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And why did it drop after 2012?  2012 is when -- when did it go in-service?

MR. WASIK:  In 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In '8.  So 2012 was the true-up, and so I see growth between 2005 and 2012, the first true-up, of 4 percent a year.  It went down, but it ended up 4 percent a year, right?

MR. WASIK:  So we reflected in our assessment that natural conservation also played a role as well as renewable generation in terms of reducing the demand.  We also understand that there's other elements like time-of-use pricing that would curtail peaks and other programs that would be peak-shaving that would have affected these numbers as well.

So the impact of conservation programs did have an impact in terms of reducing those particular outlooks, specifically ones which are natural in conservation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  From 2012 onwards the Canadian economy and the local -- the Golden Horseshoe economy was actually growing rapidly, right?  So this drop in demand is not because of economic factors.

MR. WASIK:  Not the second drop post-2012.  What I was reflecting in my last response was the impact of conservation and reduction in peak demand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I heard you say to the first question of Mr. Frank was that in the original forecast, you expected strong housing growth throughout the piece.  And of course, then you had the downturn.

But that's not actually the reason why you have the problem now, is it?  Because you actually had quite strong housing growth; you just had a dip first.

MR. WASIK:  In essence, what it did, Mr. Shepherd, is it put us back five or six years.  As a consequence of the economic downturn, especially when you look at the CCRA net present value model, we essentially lost five years of that growth, which when you weight it over a net present value has a higher impact than if you had that reduction in years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, your forecast in year 10 is lower than your original forecast of year two.  It's not five years, is it?

MR. WASIK:  I'm sorry.  Can you please tell me what you're referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your current forecast of year 10, right, is 40?  And your original forecast of year two was 42.6.  Isn’t that right?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you were wrong by 8 years out of 10?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Shepherd, I would not categorize it as wrong.  The forecast at the time when we built the station was the best information we knew.  The forecast that we put forward now is the best information we know.  It is a reflection of the actual data experience with what we are anticipating will take place moving forward.

But I think it's also very important to reflect that the station still has to be built, and the fact that these particular customers have to be connected to a station.  And in 2005, when we didn't have the station, we were unable to connect any additional customers.

So I think it's very important that we also reflect that as much as we try our best to put forward perfect information, even if we had the perfect information in 2005, we still would have had to build the station because we were unable to connect any further customers.

So we do our best to forecast.  We do our best to capture it.  But from the perspective of looking at it today of what we should have known in 2005, there is no reasonable way we could have predicted the economic downturn.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In year two, you couldn't have found 5 megawatts of capacity?  That's what you needed in fact, 5 megawatts.  Five megawatts isn't that a hard to find.

MR. WASIK:  Again, Mr. Shepherd, we were overloaded on the previous yard to the point where we were unable to connect any additional load onto that particular station.  We had to find another means of connecting those customers.  That's why the station was built.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not trying to beat you up here.  I’m sorry.  I know it sounds like I'm doing that; I’m not trying to.

There is a prudence issue here.  Normally, when you go back and look at these things, it's not so far out.  When you're this far out, the question is obviously raised: was the original forecast simply not prudently done.

That's why I'm asking the questions.  I'm trying to give you an opportunity to explain why at that time it made a lot of sense to use that number.  I haven't heard it yet.

MR. GARNER:  That seems more rhetorical than the question.  Are you asking a question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking the question.

MR. SMITH:  I'm with Mr. Garner on that one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  He can say he has nothing further to add, but I'm trying to give him an opportunity to show why it was prudent at the time.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I just want to make sure that we're not mixing apples and oranges.  Is your proposition that the forecast was imprudent --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  -- or that building the transformer station was imprudent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.

MR. SMITH:  Because one is a question of whether there should be a transformer station.  The other is the payment stream that would be made by ratepayers which is a function of the forecast, but doesn't mean the transformer station ought not to have been built.  I want to make sure we're understanding.

 MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm trying to be very clear that I'm asking about the forecast, because it's clear that you wouldn't have built a transformer station for 1.9 megawatts of demand in the first year; you would have delayed it.  So that's true, isn't it?

MR. SMITH:  I think you should ask that question before you take it as a given in your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll ask that question.  If you had the -- sorry, go ahead.

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Shepherd, prior to building the station, the former Hydro One Brampton examined all avenues and paths in terms of how to be able to continue to connect the new customers that were requesting to be connected in that particular area.

The build of the station was absolutely required because in 2005, we were unable to service all the customers in that particular -- from that particular station.  So a new station had to be built.

The discussions and negotiations with Hydro One take time.  And so we explored all different opportunities and methods of trying to figure out how we can address this peak and through that, it was determined that building an extension at Pleasant was the only economic and prudent decision to make.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your evidence is if the original capital contribution, instead of being 4 million would have been 40 million, which is what it would have been roughly, Hydro One Brampton would still have wanted to go ahead with it at the same time, no change in timing, no change in options?

MR. WASIK:  So there was an incident that I want to bring to your attention in 2005, where the loading on the Pleasant TS was in excess of the 10-day LTR to the point where we actually had to drop customers.  By Hydro One's decision, they removed customers and we had to strand 2500 customers that particular day, because we weren't able to load any more customers.

So the urgency to build the station was there.  We actually had a brown-out in 2005.  I wanted to bring that point up to identify to you that at that particular time, the outlook in the growth with the demand is what caused to us put forward the forecast that it had.  And since then, there has been significant changes beyond the control of the former Hydro One Brampton as a result of the economic downturn that’s caused this particular deferral and delay in reduction in terms of what our original forecast was projected to be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is what I'm trying to understand, because you seem to be saying two different things.

One thing you're saying is we had already had a shortfall in capacity at that time.  So even with no additional requirements, we had to build another transformer station; we had to.

And if that's true -- I don't recall any evidence that said that, but let's say that's true, that's one thing.  The other thing is we expected load growth and had to build to anticipate the load growth.  Which is it?

MR. WASIK:  So the response in terms of providing you evidence of where we said that a station needed to be built can be found in attachment 21, page 2 of 5, where we identified that the profit for additional station capacity to ensure Hydro One Brampton would be able to service new customers while retaining reliabilities of the existing customers.

So in there, we did reflect and identify that we did require the capacity to connect new customers.  The unfortunate challenge that we're faced with now is that capacity is available to those customers, but the monthly annual -- excuse me, the monthly peak demands aren't materializing as initially anticipated at that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I want to come back to -- you talked about a brown-out, right, and said, well, you know, we couldn't even serve the customers we had.  If you had to build -- had to spend this money because you couldn't serve the customers you had, is that true?

MR. WASIK:  At that time in 2005, that is true.  And it was only going to be a bigger problem because we're aware there is a development in the area and additional customers also wanted to be connected.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if we look at the business case for it, it will say whether or not we have any more load growth, we have to build with this now.  Is that what it would say?

MR. WASIK:  It wouldn't say that.  What it would say is, considering where we are today, plus taking into consideration future outlooks of what we anticipate -- we wouldn't build just on -- that would be our starting point, but when we make long-term investments, just like this forecast reflects, we're always looking out in the longer-term, right?  And so by putting the forecast at that time, that was the best information that we had.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the load forecast had been what you have today, what actually happened, would you then have spent $40 million to build this at that time in 2008?

MR. WASIK:  In 2000 and -- excuse me, when we --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Indicated service 2008.

MR. WASIK:  So just to be clear, Mr. Shepherd, what you're asking me is if we knew that the load forecast for the actual as experienced to date as provided in response to PRZ-Staff-5 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  Hindsight is 20/20.  Let's --


MR. WASIK:  We still have to build a station.  Otherwise we wouldn't be able to connect the 40 megs anywhere.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would have spent the $40 million.

MR. WASIK:  We would have to build the station.  Otherwise there would be no other way for us to be able to connect those customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, I have a follow-up, though.  That's -- the station and the $40 million are two different things.  So again, hindsight being hindsight.  What I take it is, though, the option that you chose at the time -- they chose at the time for Pleasant included growth, so it wasn't just to deal with that issue.

I mean, there were alternatives, I suspect, that you could have looked at, cheaper and more expensive, and you took a fairly expensive alternative because you anticipated growth.  Would that be correct?  I mean, were there other ways of dealing with this -- if you had no growth, extra growth, or anticipated no growth, would there have been other options to --


MR. WASIK:  Mr. Garner, we already provided the response that we examined all the different options, and building the station was the --


MR. GARNER:  Well, I don't think you're answering the question, though.  The question I'm asking is, had you known there was no growth -- which you didn't.  I mean, it's obvious in hindsight -- there would have been other options to deal with, as Mr. Shepherd said, the initial problem, which is you needed a station -- you needed a station, you needed something, in order to deal with your immediate issue, then you anticipated a future need for more.  There's two aspects to it, right?

MR. WASIK:  So Mr. Garner, yes, to answer your question, we look at both of those components, which is the starting point of the fact that something is needed to identify that it needs to move forward now and it can't be delayed, plus you want to look at, when you build it, what's the future use of it, and that also informs us in terms of what the forecast should be in terms of the payment -- the initial capital contribution payment to Hydro One.

MR. GARNER:  I guess what I was trying to ask and get to was, it also informs you as to what type of asset to build or what type of solution to develop.  And to put it concrete to the question, because I think this is about what Mr. Shepherd is saying about the prudency of the investment.  When I look at 2 VECC 8, that one, where you show your original DCF load profile and the actual load --


MR. WASIK:  One moment, Mr. Garner.

MR. GARNER:  Sure, by all means.  What I was trying to visualize, and maybe you can help me here, which is, they are fairly far apart, and what I was wondering to myself is what growth, what would it take, in order for that station to basically meet the projected peak demand on it?  So you're in Brampton, and I'm looking at the gap there and I'm asking myself how many houses and/or businesses would need to be -- need to happen in order for you to get to your original forecast, because it seems so largely different than what you have.

Can you help me with that at all?  I mean, what growth rate is required inside of Brampton to meet your original forecast of 120 on the NCP for that station?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Garner, there's two parts to it.  The first part is that we did anticipate continued growth, and it was linear from the 2002 to 2005.  That would be where that ramp-up of that station would continue.  So that was the first outlook that we had, is that we anticipated what we experienced over the three years prior to negotiating and building a station that that would continue.  And then the second element around that is that we anticipated that load at the other yard would not decrease.  And so those are the two elements that would be required.

MR. GARNER:  But I don't think that is my question.  And maybe I'm not saying it well.  Maybe you can help me.  What I'm really trying to figure out is if I look at your projection, I look at where you're at, I ask myself -- put it in the simplest terms -- how many houses would have to be built in order to meet that peak demand that is sitting in that graph that looked like you were going to get there?  10, 100, 1,000, 10,000?  I mean, what is the growth that needs to be made in order to meet the demand that was originally forecast today, sitting right now?  What do you need to meet your original forecast?  That's kind of where I'm asking.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just, the witness will correct me if I'm wrong, but I think what he had earlier said, Mr. Garner, was, it's not just growth, but you can't have subtraction either.  So if your question is just growth, I think it misses the point that Mr. Wasik is trying to identify that you can't subtract load loss at other stations, which is what Hydro One does in the calculation of the true-up payment.  If I've got that wrong the witness will correct me.

MR. GARNER:  Yeah, I think maybe I'm wrong, Mr. Smith.  Maybe I've got it wrong, but what I'm thinking -- I'm not talking now about the contribution at all.  I'm just actually looking at the load on that station and then saying to myself, well, you anticipated that NCP on that station.  You're not close to the NCP on that station, so you must have had a projection of load that was going to grow and be used on that station, and it doesn't seem -- you know, I'm trying to get -- I'm really trying to get a handle on what would that look like right today.  If you were sitting there and saying, "Yeah, we met that," what would I be looking at as growth around that station?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I put a twist on that, and maybe this will help?

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, sorry, no --


MR. SHEPHERD:  This will help.  Trust me.

MR. SMITH:  We'll see.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2005 you had a load and customer connection growth, a volume and customer connection forecast, on which -- for Hydro One Brampton, on which you based these discussions, yes?  Is that filed anywhere, number one.  And number two, can you compare it to what actually happened?  That's what you're looking for, right?

MR. WASIK:  [Speaking off-mic]  Yeah, I think that was (inaudible) concrete terms.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Mr. Garner, we'll take an undertaking to provide the response to your question.

MR. SMITH:  Or Mr. Shepherd.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Or Mr. Shepherd's clarification.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you undertake to provide that 2005 volume and customer connections forecast, if there is one?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  We'll provide you with what we have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  TO PRODIVE A LOAD AND CUSTOMER CONNECTION GROWTH FORECAST FROM HYDRO ONE BRAMPTON; TO COMPARE IT TO WHAT ACTUALLY HAPPENED


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you're going to something else other than the true-up, I have one more question on that.  Can I do that?  And then I have no more questions on that.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, the witness has one thing to add.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  No, I don't have anything to add.  We're just making a note for the undertaking.  Just one second, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There were actually two load forecasts that were wrong, right?  There was one initially in 2005 and then there was one in 2011-12, when you did the true-up in which you did a new forecast going forward and that was also wrong, right?  Or it was -- it didn't end up tracking reality.

MR. WASIK:  That's correct, the forecast didn't materialize as we anticipated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  The reason I ask that is because in the Brampton DSP -- Brampton had a DSP, right?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was there included in that a 10 year true-up of the Pleasant TS?

MR. WASIK:  There was no 10-year true-up.  There was a five-year true-up that we considered in the DSP for Pleasant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you knew that you were way off on your forecast, so didn't you expect that you were going to have a 10-year true-up, too?

MR. WASIK:  Again, Mr. Shepherd, at the time we completed the five-year true-up, we anticipated that that was the most accurate forecast and we did not anticipate another 10-year true-up.  That is actually why we're proposing this particular project as an ICM, because we did not anticipate at that particular time that particular payment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. GARNER:  So I can now finish mine on Brampton’s thing, too, if I just ask two more questions on this one.

One was to confirm the Pleasant station -- the planning for that, was that part of any regional planning exercise that was done?

MR. WASIK:  The negotiation and construction of the Pleasant TS was prior to the regional planning practices.  It was done in 2005 and constructed in 2008.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  That's what I thought; I just wanted to confirm that.

And second -- and this is a bit of a hypothetical, So maybe Mr. Smith will jump in.  But in the absence of an ICM, how would Alectra -- would Alectra simply eat the true-up?  Is that what would normally happen?

MR. SMITH:  But we have an ICM.

MR. GARNER:  I know.  I knew you'd jump in.  I'm just wondering does Alectra -- is the ICM -- does this depend on the ICM, or is the true-up part of something bigger for you in the sense that these are true-ups underneath the CCRAs that you have come to the Board to ..

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  I'm sorry, I'm not trying to be difficult, but I'm not sure that I follow the question.

MR. GARNER:  What I was really trying to get to -- and maybe Mr. Smith is correct; it's not much of a question.  But if your threshold were lower and you weren't able to meet that, would therefore this project would just be simply taken in and absorbed by the utility?

That's a little bit different.  You have to make a payment as opposed to a capital project where you can defer it, right?  You're not deferring anything in this case; you are going to have to pay a payment?

MR. SMITH:  We have to pay.

MR. GARNER:  You have to pay.  That's okay.  If you didn't have another idea to get this money, that's fine with me.  I just was wondering.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  We have to make the payment.  It's a contractual obligation.

MR. GARNER:  Thanks.

MR. FRANK:  I think I'm going to move on to ERZ-Staff-6, and my question is basically this:  With respect to the City of Brampton's downtown core revitalization project, has the Brampton rate zone performed an economic evaluation comparing the present day cost of the upgrades as required through the revitalization project versus the cost of the performing upgrades had the revitalization project not happened?

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Frank, no, we did not complete that evaluation, and I would like to clarify why it was not done.

The urgent issue with regards to proceeding with the investment for the downtown core is we're doing this in a coordinated manner, along with other utilities in the Region of Peel.  So as they're reconfiguring the downtown core, they have made it clear to us that we have one opportunity to complete this work with them, and that both the region and City of Brampton are going to put together a moratorium to not permit us to go back afterwards and put infrastructure in for a period of 5 to 10 years.

So this is something that we've explained, that we are proceeding together with them and that we’re required to undertake this work in 2018 in coordination with the other utilities and in the timeline that is being proposed by the Region of Peel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I follow-up on that?  This was supposed to start this summer.  Did it start?

MR. WASIK:  My understanding is they're in procurement at the moment looking for the contractor, and it is moving forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's delayed, but not by much?

MR. WASIK:  They're in procurement at the moment, as I understand it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So instead of starting in the summer of 2017, it's going to start in the summer of 2018?

MR. WASIK:  At this time, I don't have the exact start date.  But we anticipate the work to be done in 2018.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't know whether the moratorium is five years or 10 years?

MR. WASIK:  At this time, we were told the moratorium could be anywhere from five to 10 years.  But we weren't told what that timeline is yet -- a minimum of five.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why -- if it's imminent, I would have thought that all those details would have been worked out.  You have to figure out what you're going to do, right?

MR. MATTHEWS:  In this case, they haven't definitively stated the period.  They have just provided 5 to 10 years.  That's often what municipalities do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. FRANK:  I guess the -- I'm thinking that typically in a straight reconstruction project where utilities have to be moved, there would typically be some form of a contribution made by the city that's insisting that the work happen at this time.  So has the Brampton rate zone pursued any sort of capital contribution from the City of Brampton?

MR. WASIK:  I'm not aware of any capital contributions for this particular project.

MR. FRANK:  Okay.  So in the absence of the revitalization project, do you have any sense of when Alectra thinks that it would have pursued the upgrades on Main Street?

MR. WASIK:  I'm sorry, I'm having a hard time following the question.  Could you please rephrase it?

MR. FRANK:  If not for the revitalization project that effectively requires the upgrades to be made in 2018, what time do you think Alectra would have otherwise made the upgrades?

MR. WASIK:  I think it's difficult to uncouple those two together, because it is anticipated that with the revitalization of the downtown core new development as well as new growth is what's actually causing our -- driving our investment needs.  So the both two are -- we can't uncouple the -- the reason we're putting in this infrastructure is to be able to accommodate the growth that's expected with the revitalization.

MR. FRANK:  I think that's the end of my questions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're spending this money -- it's 1.5 million, sorry?  You're spending this money to do projects that otherwise you would have been doing over the next ten years between now and your next rebasing or that accommodate new growth; is that right?

MR. WASIK:  What I just provided in my response was that with this revitalization we are aware that there is going to be development in growth and we're doing this in a coordinated manner with other utilities, so it's efficient and effective and provides the best value for customers, and so it's done in a joint manner.  And I think that's what the purpose of the Region of Peel's revitalization effort is.


And the reason why they brought us altogether is that they didn't want us to do this separately at different times, they wanted us to do this in a coordinated manner.  They're in procurement to find the contractors to do it.  And in doing so the city has also worked with developers to ensure that development also takes place at the same time, so it's a combined effort.  We --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  It's --


MR. WASIK:  -- wouldn't space it out over ten years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand, and that's all good.  I'm trying to do the equation between what the ratepayers are being asked to pay and what they're getting.  And so one of the things they're being asked -- they're being asked to pay part of this because you have to do some things now that you would otherwise do over the next few years, right?

MR. WASIK:  In this particular project, Mr. Shepherd, this work is being done in a coordinated manner.  So we don't -- we can't pace out the particular work in any other manner, because we're doing this in a coordinated manner with the municipality, with the region, and with other utilities.  So that's why we're having a difficult time uncoupling how we would space this out, because the reason we're all doing this together is because we can do it much more efficiently and effectively by doing it jointly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I'm trying to get at -- maybe I'm making the question more complicated than it needs to be.  What I see you saying is that there's two things happening here.  One is you're going to improve capacity in the downtown core and there's going to be more load.  And the second is -- and improved facilities in the downtown core and it'll be more load.  And the second is that you're changing the timing of things that you would otherwise do because you're being told by the City, this is your chance, do it now or you can't do it for a while.  Am I right with that?

MR. WASIK:  That is correct.  And so what we're struggling with is that if we don't do it now we would not be in a position to be able to service those new customers and we would not be able to connect them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  But I guess from the customer's point of view they would say, well, if all you're doing is moving something a couple of years, why are you asking for extra money?  You're going to spend the money anyway under your normal budget.  That's number one.  And number two, if you're spending money for new load, the new load is going to pay you.  So why are you asking for more money for that?

MR. WASIK:  I think it's very important, Mr. Shepherd, to identify that this is not one of our ICM proposal projects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I know.

MR. WASIK:  So from the standpoint what we're proposing here in terms of our ongoing capital investment in this particular investment category is that this is good utility practice in terms of putting in infrastructure so that you can do it cleanly.  There's, I think, one point of clarity I think we want to outline, is that we're utilizing this opportunity to configure the distribution system in the downtown core to effectively service the new loads, and so it's not simply just moving things around.  We are planning for this development, and doing it in a manner where we know that over the next ten years we may not have an opportunity to go and add on to it or make adjustments.

So this is done in a coordinated manner together with the city, together with other utilities, together with the watermains and the sewers.  All of that is done so that the downtown core can be revitalized and tied together with the rejuvenation of that particular area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't think anybody is suggesting that it's a bad project.  I think everybody is violently agreeing with you it is a good project.  But it is in your threshold, which means that it leaves you with less room to spend on other things, and if it's not actually costing you anything in the long-term, if it's paying for itself, then we're paying for something else, in this case the true-up, that at least in part we probably don't need to pay, because you have the extra money from this.  Do you understand?

MR. WASIK:  I do, but we have to invest in this.  This is our infrastructure we have to put in place.  So I'm just not following where somebody else is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's okay.  I understand.  Go on.

MR. BRETT:  Excuse me.  Just before you move to the next group -- I think you said you're finished with Brampton -- I have one small question.

Are you -- do you -- are you entitled to a contribution from either the City of Brampton or the County of Peel in respect of this particular investment, insofar as part of it presumably has to do with the fact that you're moving lines to accommodate changes in street patterns or changes in building configuration?

So my question to you is, are you entitled to it, do you know, has anyone approached the City and the County to see -- ask them to pay their normal -- what I'll call their normal portion under the relevant statute?

MR. WASIK:  So Mr. Brett, I believe I responded to that question already, is that --


MR. BRETT:  You said you weren't aware.

MR. WASIK:  I was not aware of any --


MR. BRETT:  My question is going beyond that.  You may not be aware, but I would like to know whether -- I would like you to be able to tell me or take an undertaking and then tell me whether the utility has dealt with the City on this.  I mean, have you talked to them and they've said no?  That's one thing.  But if no one has talked to them -- because that's something else again.

MR. SMITH:  We'll take the undertaking.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be --


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  TO ADVISE IF ANYONE HAS APPROACHED THE CITY AND THE COUNTY TO ASK THEM TO PAY THEIR NORMAL PORTION UNDER THE RELEVANT STATUTE.

MR. DAVIES:  [Speaking off-mic]  Okay.  So if there's no more on Brampton I was going to start asking...

It's on, is it not?  Can everyone hear me? 

MR. SMITH:  I can hear you, but I don't think your microphone is on. 

MR. DAVIES:  Is it working now?

MR. SMITH:  Sure.
Questions by Mr. Davies:

MR. DAVIES:  I will now ask questions on the PowerStream.

MR. GARNER:  But I’m not finished with Brampton.  That was your question when you got the mic on.  If you want to finish with Brampton, I'm not done with Brampton.  I have one more with Brampton.

MR. SMITH:  More Brampton? 

MR. GARNER:  Actually, it was on Board Staff question number 8.  Board Staff asked you in this question about a 4.16 to 27.6 K conversion project, and their question was about the 2016 investment.  They were basically asking why was it lower in ’16.

And you answered the question.  You basically went through about -- that you had to, I believe, reassess things. 

What I was going to ask was after that reassessment, because you took basically a pause and then you are now spending a lot more as part of this proposal.  What I was going to ask is was their report actually done during that one-year pause you took on this project?  And if there was a report done, could you provide it to us? 

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Mr. Garner, we can undertake to look into whether there is a report or not. 

MR. GARNER:  For the purpose of the undertaking, the way I would just say it is, there was a rescoping of the project done in 2015, I believe, or ’16 in the interrogatory response.  And the undertaking I would like is to produce any report that was done as part of that rescoping of the project. 

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will a take a look and see if there was a report.  And if there was a report, we'll produce it.  If there wasn't one, we'll let you know. 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JT1.7.  
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  TO PROVIDE ANY REPORT PREPARED IN RESCOPING THE PROJECT, IF AVAILABLE


MR. GARNER:  Thank you. 

MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  Now are we ready to move to PowerStream?

MR. SMITH:  Brampton - going once, going twice.  No, you said you had no more.  I would like the transcript read back. 

MR. DAVIES:  My first question on PowerStream relates to interrogatory G-Staff-3, and this is really a clarification question. 

I believe it's correct to say that all the contributed capital or customer contribution for the various projects that are included in the ICMs are summarized in the response to this interrogatory.  Is that correct? 

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. DAVIES:  Could you then just clarify one thing, which is on page 3 of 4 that summarizes the PowerStream projects?  There is a customer contribution at the top of the table in the amount of $14,170,536.  And yet at the bottom of the table, the total PowerStream rate zone incremental capital funding is shown as, for customer contribution, $12,095,085 dollars.  Is one of those numbers correct, or can they be reconciled? 

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Just one second.  The number at the top of the page in that table on page 3, the $14,170,536, is the correct number.  The 12 million dollar number at the bottom is incorrect; it should not be there. 

The reference I can give you is if you go to the application attachment 33, page 10, table 3, you can see about three quarters of the way down the page for total YRT the same figure on contributed capital of 14,170,536.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The bottom line doesn't add up either.  Am I right in understanding that the 37,231,401 is incorrect? 

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  We can undertake to update the table so that it's accurate. 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JT1.8.  
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED VERSION OF ATTACHMENT 33, PAGE 10, TABLE 3


MR. DAVIES:  Thank you.  If we're ready to move on, my next question relates to PRZ-Staff-3, and this interrogatory noted some of the concerns that the OEB had had in its decision on PowerStream's 2016 to 2020 rate application regarding customer engagement. 

You were asked to discuss the changes that Alectra has made in preparing the present application for the PowerStream rate zone to deal with these OEB concerns.  And there's a couple of references in the response that I would just like to get a little more clarification on, if you could provide it. 

The first area is on page 2 at lines 17 to 19.  The statement is made that unlike the 2014-15 PowerStream customer engagement, Alectra Utilities customer engagement included a focus on the customer journey touchpoints and customer outcomes. 

Could you discuss in a little more detail what that meant, and how it was different from what you had done before? 

MR. LYLE:  Thanks.  I think if I can refer you to the workbook, the online portal that was put in place, you'll see in the online portal on page 47 that we provided the customers with a stimulus, something to remind them of all the different ways that they might have engaged with Enersource or PowerStream, and in this case PowerStream.  The question -- the same pages were also used with Horizon and with Brampton.

So one of the concerns that we had was that people don't spend a lot of time thinking about electricity and thinking about the ways in which they deal with it, and many of these touch points happen only once or twice in a customer's engagement with the company, and so we wanted to provide something to get them thinking more about the ways in which they might have dealt with PowerStream in this particular case.

So that type of idea of trying to give them some sort of specific focus to react to is something that we didn't do in the previous one.

MR. DAVIES:  Thank you.  The second clarification is just at the very end of the interrogatory response on page 3, lines 5 to 7, you say:

"In contrast, the 2017 approach to customer engagement clearly articulates the value proposition of individual proposed capital projects and better balances customer concerns with the costs and reliability associated with these projects."

Could you just discuss in a comparable way how you would change this from what you did with the previous customer engagement?

MR. LYLE:  Sure.  And again, a good example of that would be if we take a look at page 43, dealing with some of the specific projects included under the -- sorry, this is -- yes, that's PowerStream.  So dealing with the specific projects that were included in this application.

So in the past what we had done is looked at the overall cost of all those projects and said, here's the overall cost, what do you think about that.  In this case what we've done is we've broken out some of the major projects and asked them specifics about those individual projects.  So for instance on the bottom of the -- or if we take a look at the next page, where we look at growth pressures, right, and we ask people when you look at the infrastructure that is being proposed to deal with the growth pressures are you willing to pay 13 cents a month to do all these projects, do you think they should scale it back and do 6 cents a month, even if that means that your reliability may be impacted, or do you say, don't do any of them and deal with the consequences of that.  And similarly, on the next page we give examples of particular projects and tied those projects.

So it's not yet going project by project.  One of the challenges that we had in this is that when you're dealing with the consumers they're not normally thinking about electricity.  And they're willing to get interested, but they have only so much time to give.  And the longer we keep their engagement, the more likely it is we're going to lose them and not have their complete participation.

So as we were thinking about how far in detail to go into the projects, we were balancing that off against other comments by the Board in terms of concerns in previous engagements of lack of participation and lack of numbers, and one of the things that was very successful in this particular one in part because we kept it tight in terms of how long the surveys went and the workbook went, we were able to get the largest number of participants that we had ever achieved up until now.

The second thing that we wanted to do is in the handbook there was a specific discussion about exploring outcomes and building business plans that are based on looking at outcomes, and we didn't have any information on that from previous work.

There was some suggestive ideas and work that had been done in the past on branding and things like that, but there had never been an explicit discussion about what sort of outcomes are important to you, and given the central role of that in the handbook we felt that we had to make space for that, so when we ended up looking at the projects we ended up grouping them in these categories and getting reaction to the particular groups as a move towards the concern in PowerStream.

To have gone further into detail and gone project by project would have meant either giving up something in terms of the other topics that we were doing, or having a smaller response rate, losing people as they went through the workbooks.  That was the trade-off that we ended up with.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The only two outcomes -- the only outcomes you provided to the people you were talking to were things as they are now, somewhat reduced reliability or major reductions in reliability.  Those are the only outcomes you offered, right?

MR. LYLE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. DAVIES:  The --


MR. LYLE:  I should just add that with the large users there was actually another option, which was improved reliability, because in our discussions and planning the workbook and the issues with Alectra it was identified that in that particular audience they might be willing to pay more to get more.

But our general understanding coming into this engagement was that there was rising concern about rates and that people were generally satisfied with the reliability that they were receiving and that there was unlikely to be much appetite to spend more to get more when it came to reliability with other rate classes.

MR. DAVIES:  The next question I have continues on in this area, and it's PRZ-Staff-4.  And in that interrogatory you were asked to please state whether any information on an individual project basis rather than by project category was presented to customers.  If any such information was presented, please provide it.  If not, please explain why not.  And you responded that information on an individual project basis was provided for each project category in the online feedback portal.

But would it be fair to say that you only provided individual project information for the project categories, but you did not go down to the individual projects that you're seeking approval for in this application?

MR. LYLE:  So we didn't probe specifically on specific projects.  And again, the reason for that is the trade-off of response rate in covering other topics.  And so in order to have found time to get into specific projects we would have to have given up on things that the Board has also indicated are important, such as understanding customer needs or understanding customer outcomes.

So that was the trade-off in order -- and also engagement.  So we could have gone longer.  We just would have had fewer people stick with it.

MR. DAVIES:  So the reason you provided the specific information on the YRRT project is because it's the only project in the system access category for PowerStream?

MR. LYLE:  What page are you referring to?

MR. DAVIES:  In the -- you refer to the online feedback portal, and for example on page 43 you have -- you say:

"This incremental system access investment is non-discretionary, as it is a requirement under existing legislation.  It will represent an 11-cent per month increase in 2018 to a typical residential customer's bill in the PowerStream service territory."

That seems to be the only individual project that you provide that information for.  I just want to confirm that there is nothing else anywhere that would provide any other individual information.

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  In this category, it is the only project, and so it was the project that was put to customers, the YRT. 

MR. DAVIES:  Yes, because it's the only -- it’s the only project in that category, that's why it's the only project separated out.  And the other segments have multiple projects in them, so the individual projects are not broken out.  I guess that's what happened.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. LYLE:  And just the other point is that in the system access, because it is compliance because it has to be done, it didn't make sense to ask people what their opinion is of something that had to be done, so there was no question directly tied to it. 

MS. GRICE:  Sorry, can I clarify on Staff 4?  The response says yes, information on an individual project basis was provided.  Are we saying -- is the response now that no, the individual project information was not provided?  I'm just confused. 

MR. LYLE:  If you take a look at, for instance, page 43 in the workbook, you'll see that there are specific projects provided. 

But there weren't questions about the specific projects, so the information about specific projects is there, but then the questions were asked on a category basis. 

MR. DAVIES:  But the only individual costing of one of these projects that is shown is the YRRT project.  There is no other costing for the remainder.  That's what I understood the case to be. 

MR. LYLE:  Yes, and I mean you can see on the page.  And again, the reason for that is the trade-off if we want to get -- if we wanted to cover all the topics that, we covered we couldn't get into detail on everything.  And so what we were looking at in looking at the ICMs was presenting information on the projects, so they knew the projects we were talking about.  But when we asked questions about feedback, the information on costs we provided was about the category, so not about the specific projects.  And the reason for that is because it would have taken more space, which meant more time to ask about the specific projects, and that would have meant not doing other things that were also important and OEB guidance. 

MR. DAVIES:  From that point of view, I suppose you could say that the response would be more, yes, information on an individual category basis was provided? 

MR. LYLE:  No.  I mean, these are specific projects.  If you look right below the one that you cited, right -- I see what you're saying, sorry. 

MR. DAVIES:  In terms of the cost attached to it. 

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  But the question was to please state whether any information was provided. 

MR. LYLE:  Right.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  So information was provided on projects.  The response is correct in response to the question as it has been -- as it was laid out to us. 

MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  But if you interpret in that sense, then yes.  But if you're looking specifically for individual costing information, then it's only by category that that is available? 

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  That's right. 

MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  If there's nothing else on 4, the next question I have is on PRZ-Staff-5, and I think this one touches on similar areas to what we got into with Enersource this morning because it's the same type of issue of the system reliability eventually declines, and system reliability declines significantly in those type of comparisons. 

Did you basically use the same approach in doing the PowerStream assessment of this reliability versus bill impact as you used for Enersource, or were there any differences? 

MR. WASIK:  There was a slightly different approach used in the assessment for the PowerStream rate zone.  So the assessment of which projects, as well as the methodology, is slightly different.

I think we explained that this particular practice was done in two steps, and we provided the explanation below in terms of the process that was used to calculate it. 

But in essence, it had the same objective, to determine what the impact of the SAIDI is.  It’s just that there were slightly different methodologies of adding up which particular projects and what would be their impacts over the years. 

MR. DAVIES:  When you looked at this area with 50 per cent of the projects approved, how did you determine which ones were included among the approved versus non-approved? 

MR. WASIK:  So the approach that was taken, Mr. Davies, was to look at how much funding was available and then we evaluated specific system renewal investments that would have to be considered to not move forward, should that funding wouldn't be available.  And that's how this particular list of which particular projects would be included in that assessment. 

So we did that for the 50 and did that for the hundred percent methodology. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I can just jump in here?  You gave a previous undertaking with respect to Enersource to provide the models and calculations for this, and also to confirm if it was true that there were no reports, or presentations, or memos, or anything reporting it to management. 

Can you provide the same thing for the PRZ?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we'll do that. 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.9. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  TO PROVIDE THE MODELS AND CALCULATIONS FOR THE PRZ, AND WHEN THEY OCCURRED; TO CONFIRM THAT THERE WERE NO REPORTS, PRESENTATIONS, MEMOS, OR ANYTHING PREPORTING IT TO MANAGEMENT

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Davies, I wonder if we might -- I don’t know how many questions you have left, but I wonder if we might take the afternoon break now. 

MR. DAVIES:  I just have one more question on this.

MR. SMITH:  Even better. 

MR. DAVIES:  The only other thing I just wanted to ask is when you're looking at the reliability impact, were you assuming -- did you make any assumptions about when the spending would take place in the absence of getting -- like if you cut spending by 50 percent now, when would the 12.5 million that you cut be spent, or would it be spent?

I'm wondering what assumptions you made about the spending that was cut on a going forward basis when you were assessing impact on reliability. 

MR. WASIK:  Mr. Davies, the assessment was completed on 2018 investment initiatives. 

MR. DAVIES:  So it doesn't -- it’s just an in year effect that you're looking at? 

MR. WASIK:  As we provided, it's cascading.  But the effect is starting in 2018 and the fact that we're moving forward.

MR. DAVIES:  So you take it out in 2018, and it doesn't come back in any future year? 

MR. WASIK:  That's correct.  That would be the approach that we took. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  You assumed that if you didn't do these province in 2018, you never did them? 

MR. WASIK:  What we assessed in this impact is that if we didn't get the funding, we found -- we determined specific projects that added up to that funding, and we assessed if we would not complete those projects, what would be that cascading impact from now for the next five years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's assuming you never did them, right?

MR. WASIK:  No, it's assuming that we wouldn’t do them in the five years of this thing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the next five years, thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan here.  I have quick clarification question.  When did you do that assessment? 

MR. WASIK:  I can't recall. 

MR. SMITH:  We'll let you know when we provide the undertaking.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thanks. 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Is that another undertaking? 

MR. SMITH:  No. 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So let's take fifteen and come back at quarter to. 
--- Recess taken at 3:32 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:50 p.m.


MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  If we're ready to go, my next question would relate to PRZ-Staff-6.  The question related to the forecast being reduced -- an incremental capital funding request for 2018 being reduced by $1,457,932, representing the removal of the rear lot supply remediation project at Queen Greenway, and in the list of projects that you're seeking funding for there is also another rear lot supply remediation project, which is Royal Orchard North.

And could you describe why you decided to remove the Queen Greenway rather than the Royal York -- Royal Orchard North?

MR. WASIK:  Based on learnings from the customer engagement we made the decision to not proceed with the proposed rear lot remediation project at Queen and Greenway, but made the determination to proceed with the rear lot remediation at Royal Orchard North due to our understanding of the impact that the rear lot remediation project that Royal Orchard North had during the ice storm.  And so that informed us in terms of proceeding with that particular initiative and not the other rear lot replacement project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just follow up on that?  The Royal Orchard North project wasn't in your DSP, was it?

MR. MATTHEWS:  No, the specific project was not in the DSP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So not only did -- was it the survivor of the two that you proposed to go ahead with, but it was actually a new project.  So when was the ice storm?  Was it after the DSP?

MR. MATTHEWS:  So the ice storm was 2013.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it was before the DSP.

MR. MATTHEWS:  Correct.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  No, that's not correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So --


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  The DSP was being drafted as the, frankly, as the ice storm happened.  The learnings from the ice storm were post the DSP filing.  The DSP was filed as part of the 2015 application.

MR. MATTHEWS:  So the ice storm informed the DSP, but you will recall that PowerStream approach was looking at a programmatic replacement of rear lot construction.  And since the decision that we received at that time, we revisited all of that type of plant and took the approach of looking at each specific neighbourhood as an individual project, as opposed to looking at a program.  So that's why you're seeing the rear lot Royal Orchard as a new project as compared to the DSP.

MR. GARNER:  Can I follow up with that?  So how does that -- I think I understand, first of all, this project wasn't in the original DSP, notwithstanding there were other projects in there that were informed by the ice storm, right?  That was one of the, as I call the rationales for some of the rear lot programs, was that the ice storm had demonstrated a vulnerability to plan, correct?

MR. MATTHEWS:  That's correct.

MR. GARNER:  But this one for some reason wasn't identified at that time, right?

MR. MATTHEWS:  Not the specific neighbourhood.

MR. GARNER:  Now, when I read the Board's decision specifically on the rear lot remediation, one of the things it said is it said, and I quote:

"Considering the lack of a cost/benefit analysis and concerns about the reliability of PowerStream's unit cost forecast, the Board considers the appropriate capital budget should be limited..."

And then it goes on to say how much and by what.

How is -- if I understand what you're saying is, well, that decision -- and correct me if I'm wrong, but that decision went to -- and I'm going to get confused with your project and program nomenclature -- that went to the project of what we were presenting to the Board, and these ones are -- or maybe these ones are programs.  Maybe you can help me.  Which one is the --


MR. MATTHEWS:  The decision spoke to the programs.

MR. GARNER:  Right.

MR. MATTHEWS:  We've revised our approach and are doing it on a project-by-project basis.

MR. GARNER:  I see.  And under the project basis do you consider it not needed to address the cost/benefit analysis concern and the unit forecast concern because those were -- well, what?  Maybe...

MR. MATTHEWS:  So what I would say is that in -- you know, the concerns were raised with respect to the estimate of the projects and how we were estimating -- sorry, the program.  Since then we've had more experience with rear lot remediation.  We've completed two projects since that time.  We have a better handle on the complexity and individual nature of each neighbourhood, so our estimates are more specific than just a general program approach.

So we are doing a detailed estimate for each project, each subdivision, each area that we're doing.  So the estimates are more detailed.  There's a specific scope.  And so we believe this to be a more accurate and cost-effective approach to dealing with these situations.

MR. GARNER:  But you haven't done a cost/benefit analysis; is that correct?  Like, I'm just asking.  You haven't done that on this project?

MR. MATTHEWS:  We looked at this from the reliability aspect and the impact that -- the impact for severe weather on these types of installations, but we did not do a cost/benefit analysis.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And on the unit cost commentary of the Board, I don't recollect what the unit cost might have been in that other -- in that proceeding.  Did you do a unit cost comparison for these projects to the unit cost of the -- and I'm sorry, I keep getting this wrong -- the program before or the project before, whichever it is?

MR. MATTHEWS:  So if I can refer you to PRZ-Staff-10, page 1 of 3, in the indented paragraphs.  In the third paragraph:

"In calculating its standard unit cost PowerStream multiplied the cost of one historical job using the hybrid option by a factor of 1.47."

So that's the methodology that we had used in the prior DSP filing.  Since then we've refined that approach and, as I said, we're doing a more detailed estimate, detailed design on each subdivision, so we're using a different approach, and it's a more accurate estimate for the cost for each of these projects, as opposed to using one historical project with a 1.47 multiplier factor.

MR. GARNER:  So shorthand, I'd say it's project-specific costing in this case, as opposed to generalization of the costing.

MR. MATTHEWS:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just before you leave Royal Orchard, can you tell me, when did Royal Orchard rear lot remediation get approved for inclusion in in-service in 2018?  When was it approved? 

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Sorry, what was the last part? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  When was it approved for inclusion in in-service in 2018? 

MR. MATTHEWS:  It was post the 2015 rate decision and pre-Alectra. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Pre Alectra?  Are you sure? 

MR. MATTHEWS:  Yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I'm going to ask you to go to CCC number 1, attachment 1, which is a presentation on --somewhere between March 2nd and 6th of this year.  And on page 10, is a list of the eligible projects PowerStream, and I don't see it there.  Am I missing it? 

MR. MATTHEWS:  So the list we're looking at currently was a preliminary list of projects, and this was revised.  You can see the install 227.6 kV circuits on 16th avenue from highway 404 to Woodbine was removed, and Royal Orchard was.  But that’s part of the new projects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  But I asked the question when was it approved for inclusion in 2018, and you said pre Alectra.  So if it was pre Alectra, then you were going to do it anyway, regardless whether it was in your ICMs or not, weren't you? 

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  As Mr. Matthews stated, when PowerStream received its decision in its custom IR application, post that decision, Royal Orchard was included in what they looked forward as part of their capital program. 

The presentation slide that you see in front of you was the March assessment of the eligible discrete projects that we as Alectra were assessing.  And post this assessment, revised, as Mr. Matthews identified, some of the projects including the exclusion of the highway 404 to Woodbine installation versus the inclusion of the Royal Orchard project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the Royal Orchard project was included in base capital in March, and then it became an ICM project? 

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  No.  As I said, we were evaluating the projects for inclusion based on ICM criteria, and we're continuing to revise this list. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Matthews said before Alectra was even formed, this was approved for inclusion in in-service in 2018, that project.  So you were going to do that project anyway and in March, you were still going to -- unless something changed, you were still going to do that project and you had to re-approve it. 

So all you did was change it from base capital to ICM, isn't that right? 

MR. MATTHEWS:  So I misspoke when I said it was approved.  It was on -- it was part of the portfolio that was under consideration. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah.  So I'm trying to wrap my head around that.  Did you have a capital plan or not? 

MR. MATTHEWS:  We had a program.  However, based on the rate decision, we didn't have funding to support that program, that full program. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it was in your capital plan, but it wasn't funded.  So am I right in understanding that between the time it was approved for 2018, in 2016 let's say, and this year, it was de-approved because you didn't have funding, is that right?

MR. SMITH:  De-approved being a technical term?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a technical term. 

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  All projects were reassessed following the custom IR decision, which was then turned into a single forward test or cost of service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this project was knocked off in that Review, and then it was reinserted sometime this spring?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  The program was under review, and the projects were subsequently included in this ICM. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm still not understanding where you’re coming from here.  You had this decision from the rate case, you re-evaluated and some things approved for 2018 were knocked off because they weren't funded, true? 

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  The rate application decision approved 2017 and so, as I said before, the capital program was under review. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then at the time you made this presentation to senior management, Ms. Butany, in early March of this year, that project was not an approved project for 2018, was it?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  This project was -- this list was brought forward to the executive committee as part of an update on where we were at in the development of the application at that point. 

We were continuing to review the project list and ultimately, the as-filed projects were brought to the executive committee for approval.  This list wasn't brought to the committee for approval.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You identified to them what the projects were that you could get funding for under an ICM. 

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  We identified to them the projects for which we had assessed their -- as we were continuing to evaluate ICM eligibility, we brought to them the list that was available at the time, identifying at the same time that we were continuing to revise our lists and trying to finalize what the final project composite would be. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So at the time you made this presentation in early March, there were other projects that were under consideration for ICM treatment? 

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Or not treatment, right, because as we --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry --


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  -- as we identified, for instance, the 27.6 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Non-responsive, Ms. Butany.  I asked --


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  No, I'm --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- a simple question --


MR. SMITH:  It's not non-responsive.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I asked whether there were other projects under consideration.  You're answering a different question whether some of these projects were under consideration to not be ICM.  I didn't ask that question.  I asked the other question.

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  The other example, Mr. Shepherd, is the cable replacement project in the PowerStream rate zone, which does not show on this list, was added to the list.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there were only those two other projects, Royal Orchard rear lot replacement and the cable replacement.  Those are the only things that were under consideration for ICM in March but weren't on this list; is that right?

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Mr. Shepherd, I'm looking at table 103 of Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 10, page 19 of the application.  And so, for example, the cable replacement at Steeles and Fairway Heights is not on the list presented in March, the cable replacement at Steeles and New Westminster is not on the list.  The --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Once more your question is non-responsive.  I did not ask --


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  No, I'm sorry, I believe that it --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- you to compare the list --


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  -- is.  I'm trying to be helpful.  You've asked me what other -- the question you put to me, Mr. Shepherd, is were there other projects that aren't on this list that could have been part of the ICM, and my response --


MR. SHEPHERD:  For consideration.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Correct.  And my response is that the cable replacement, Steeles and Fairway Heights, identified in Table 103, so I'm just -- I just wanted to be helpful to take you to the evidence, and the line beneath it, Steeles Avenue and New Westminster, those were another two examples of projects that weren't on this March list but that subsequently were added to the ICM application and other items were either revised or removed from this list.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  I was trying to be helpful.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And --


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  I apologize if it took me a minute to get there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what I'm saying is I didn't ask for the comparison.  I've done the comparison.  What I'm asking is, did you have a list of potential ICM projects?  Whether or not they ended up crossing the finish line or not, did you have such a list, and can we have it?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  I've articulated it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it was only the ones that ended up being successful that were under consideration at that time.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Well, no, because -- no, because a couple of the projects that are on this list that we see in the March presentation were either removed or revised.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a list in March, which is, here is our list of projects.  You had another list, presumably, which is, here is some that probably could be on this list, but we haven't got them on there yet.  And what I hear you saying is the only things that were on that second list were ones that ultimately made it to the final list; is that right?  There was nothing that was under consideration, you said, no, no, we're not going to include this.

[Witness panel confers.]


MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Mr. Shepherd, the projects that make -- can qualify for ICM are specific.  The Board's requirements are specific.  And so we don't have -- we didn't have for 2018 a laundry list of 100 other projects that got left on the cutting-room floor, as it were.

Between these two tables, the one that you see in March, the one that I've identified to you, Table 103, there are some that are ultimately a part of the ICM application, others that are not, and some that made the ICM that are finally part of the ICM application that were revised.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Can I just ask a quick follow-up?  I want to talk about this a little bit tomorrow, but it seems to me that the numbers of these projects are in this list and in the final application, for some of the projects the dollars are different.  What would be helpful if tomorrow when we show up if you could potentially explain the difference in the dollar numbers.

MR. SMITH:  I'm sure if there are particular ones you want us to talk about we will do our best to answer.  I mean, if there are specific ones, Ms. Girvan, that you've identified, maybe you can tell us at the end of today and we'll take a look overnight.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, maybe we can ask -- I mean, I'm going to ask some questions about this tomorrow, but in the meantime maybe we could get an undertaking for you just to go through your March list for both Enersource and PowerStream and do a side-by-side comparison of that and your final list and tell us why were things dropped and new things added and why were there substantial changes in dollar figures.  Presumably there is an explanation for each, so we're just asking for a side-by-side.

MS. GIRVAN:  There are four projects on this list.

MR. SMITH:  Which is "this"?

MS. GIRVAN:  I'm pointing to the screen.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  That the numbers -- the projects are included in the final application, but the numbers are different for those four projects.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JT1.10.  That'll be Undertaking JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  TO GO THROUGH THE MARCH LIST FOR BOTH ENERSOURCE AND POWERSTREAM AND DO A SIDE-BY-SIDE COMPARISON OF THE TWO LISTS AND EXPLAIN WHY THINGS WERE DROPPED AND NEW THINGS ADDED AND WHY THERE WERE SUBSTANTIAL CHANGES IN DOLLAR FIGURES.

MS. GRICE:  I just have -- sorry, I hate to do this, but I just have one follow-up question that I just -- I don't want to lose track of it, and it was regarding the rear lot supply remediation projects and the discussion around -- you absorbed the Board's decision in the last application and you did two -- you've completed two projects where you did a more detailed estimate and you've completed the projects.

I wondered if you would undertake to provide the original estimate for those projects and then what it came in final one when you finished it, just so that we can better understand the change in the process.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we'll do that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking JT1.11.  
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  TO PROVIDE THE ORIGINAL ESTIMATE FOR THOSE PROJECTS AND THEN WHAT IT CAME IN FINAL ONE WHEN YOU FINISHED IT.

MS. GRICE:  And just to clarify, so not just the dollars, but just sort of high level what the components of the project were at a high level and then the final.

MR. SMITH:  Yeah, no, no, no, no.  Okay.  Sorry.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  No, I just want to get a before --


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we'll do it for the --


MS. GRICE:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  -- December 15th --


MS. GRICE:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  -- date, yes --


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  -- we can do that.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.

MR. DAVIES:  Should I continue, or...

MR. SMITH:  I don't know.  Do you have more questions?

MR. DAVIES:  I did have a question on the second part of PRZ-Staff-6, and --


MR. SMITH:  Just one second, Mr. Davies.  Ms. DeSouza has to write something down.

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  Thank you.

MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  The question I had is, would it be correct to say that there was no specific customer engagement on the decision to remove the Queen/Greenway project?

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  I'm looking at, Mr. Davies, PRZ-Staff-6, part B, our response there.  We did not particularly call customers or canvass at the door customers located at Queen and Greenway. 

That being said, we have extensive telephone surveys as part of the customer engagement in each in each of these rate zones and that stratified example, as laid out in this response, did capture customers located at Queen and Greenway. 

MR. DAVIES:  But that was part of your general customer engagement effort.  You didn't do specific customer engagement on this issue alone; is that fair? 

MS. BUTANY-DeSOUZA:  That is a fair statement.

MR. DAVIES:  Thank you.  The next one I had a couple of questions on is PRZ-Staff-7, and this is just to get a couple of clarifications on two of the projects.  And it relates back actually to some statements that were made in the original evidence.

The first one is for the Tottenham transformer upgrade, in the original evidence at Exhibit 2 --


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Davies, just so we can follow on, where are you looking at PRZ-Staff-7, which sub part? 

MR. DAVIES:  I'm looking at the project description right at the top.

MR. SMITH:  You're looking at the preamble? 

MR. DAVIES:  Yes, the preamble. 

MR. SMITH:  I understand, okay.  And we're comparing that to what? 

MR. DAVIES:  I just actually wanted to get a clarification related to this project to a statement that was in the originally-filed evidence.  And in the evidence at Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 10, page 29, there's a statement as follows:
"The existing 6 MVA transformer would be used as a spare for other service areas in the PowerStream rate zone," end quote. 

Could you state whether Alectra probe would be proposing to keep this spare transformer in rate base? 

MR. SMITH:  You're looking under -- this is the final sentence behind the first -- under the first bullet, project options? 

MR. DAVIES:  Yes, that's the one. 

MR. MATTHEWS:  So typically we would have spares in our rate base unless they're fully depreciated. 

MR. DAVIES:  Thank you.  The second question is on -- it's a similar one.  If you just keep the other reference in the evidence, it's just on the double circuit existing 23 M21 circuit from Bayfield and Livingstone to Little Lake MS. 

And on page 32 of the evidence that we were looking at before, there's a statement that says that a new 20 MVA substation is expected to be in-service in 2018.  Could you clarify the relationship between the 20 MVA substation and the double circuiting of the line, and also whether or not the new substation is included in this project? 

MR. MATTHEWS:  Part of the line that's required to supply Livingstone is being constructed right in front of the station.  So it was decided that it would be -- the best approach would be to do that construction while the station is being constructed, and that's why that portion of the line was constructed and is being constructed in 2017. 

MR. DAVIES:  So this is all the same project then? 

MR. MATTHEWS:  No, the station is a separate discrete project.  The feeders are tied into that station; they supply that station. 

MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  Thank you.  I think my questions on PRZ-Staff-10 have already been dealt with, so PRZ-Staff-11. 

The questions I have on this one begin with the context of noting that the OEB's ICM ACM policy states that quote:  
"The Board is of the view that projects proposed for incremental capital funding during the IR term must be discrete projects, and not part of typical annual capital  programs.  This would apply to both ACMs and ICMs going forward."

And that was from page 13 of the September 18, 2014, document issued by the Board. 

So in that context, the question that I wanted to ask is:  When you look at the list of projects which you are seeking recovery through the ICM, the only one that you probably would argue would not have been part of a typical annual capital program would likely be the YRRT project.  And the rest seemed to be programs such as scheduled stations switch gear replacement, rear lot supply remediation, cable replacement, overhead rebuild, and others that would appear to be part of typical annual recurring capital programs. 

Could you make clear what you see as the distinction between these projects and others which you're undertaking for which ICM recovery is not being requested in the context of the OEB policy, that being that they must be discrete projects and not part of typical annual capital programs, as these projects do seem on the surface to be typical annual capital program type projects? 

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Davies, I want to be helpful.  I think you have put a characterization that the applicant disagrees with, in terms of the nature of the projects that ICM relief is being sought in relation to, and there are large portions of evidence that describe the nature of the projects. 

So I don't know that it's a fair question to just say describe how these projects are not programs as you see them.  Are there -- is there a particular point of clarification you want to ask? 

I mean, I understand that may be a perspective.  I just want to make sure that we're being fair to the witness, because I don't want the witness to say, well, see our business cases. 

MR. DAVIES:  I think what I was trying to get at is could you encapsulate maybe your position on this point, in terms of when you read the wording in the policy, it says not part of typical annual capital programs.  And I think when you read that, you think, well, a lot of these projects except maybe for the YRRT, do appear to be part of typical annual capital programs.  And if you could just go over why that is not the case, in your view, or why that would not be applicable.  We're just trying to relate what you are proposing to that policy statement.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe we should think about it overnight.  I mean, I have a difficult time understanding what you would like us to do and how this is a question of clarification rather than a point of argument, which is -- because we have our evidence which describes what it is that the company is asking for and what it -- what it says these projects are in relation to and why in the company's view they're projects, and there are a bunch of interrogatories that ask those questions.

So I'm not sure that it's a point of clarification to say summarize all that evidence and do a snappy statement why you think you're right and it's not the way you've characterized it.  That's what I think you're asking us to do, and I'm not sure that that's a fair question at a technical conference.  It may be a perfectly fair point to make in argument, and there is a process for that.

MR. DAVIES:  Okay.  No, I just really wanted to give you an opportunity if you wanted to add any clarification, but I do obviously see that it's a --


MR. SMITH:  I mean, we'll think about it overnight.  We're going to be back here tomorrow morning.  We'll think about it overnight if there is something we can do.  But it struck me that the question was very broad and we would be doing a disservice to our record if we left people with the impression that this was the sum total of what we had to say on it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to ask Mr. Smith tomorrow morning or sometime tomorrow when we get to it for you to go through each of the projects and apply this principle to each of the projects in a clear way.  So just fair warning that I'll ask that, and for the same reason, so you have an opportunity to say, yes, this one qualifies because of this.

MR. SMITH:  I will reserve -- I will make the same reservation about the appropriateness of the question and I will think about it.

MR. GARNER:  Yeah, I think, Mr. Smith, we all have basically the same question, and I'm trying to be helpful too, because what I did when I went through the list is I said things like cable replacement, Steeles and Fairway, and I went, you guys do cable replacement all the time.  That's part of a natural thing, so then I said to myself, so there has got to be something different about that, and whatever is different about that on -- you go down and do the double circuit and you go, well, there's got to be -- you do double circuits all the time too, so there's got to be something different about that, and there's got to be something in common with both of those to make them into this ICM, right, and I'm looking for that commonality so I can say, oh, yeah, I see how you did that, right?

MR. SMITH:  All I'm saying, Mr. Garner, is there's lots of evidence where the company describes why it believes these items are ICM-eligible, and I'm not sure that it's a fair clarification question to say, summarize that evidence.

MR. GARNER:  No, I understand.  I'm just trying to help so you can see the way I'm looking at it --


MR. SMITH:  No, fair enough.

MR. GARNER:  -- so you can see what sort of way we're -- I'm --


MR. SMITH:  I always appreciate being told what people might say later in argument.  I appreciate that.

MR. GARNER:  No problem.

MR. SMITH:  All right.  So we'll see you people tomorrow morning at 9:30.  Thank you very much.
--- Whereupon the conference adjourned at 4:34 p.m.
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